
 
 

AGENDA 
 

CABINET 
 
 

Thursday, 3rd March, 2022, at 10.00 am Ask for: Emily Kennedy 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, 
County Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone: Tel: 03000 419625  
emily.kennedy@ken
t.gov.uk 

   
. 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 
 

1. Apologies and Substitutes  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 27 January 2022 (Pages 1 - 8) 

4. Cabinet Member Updates  

5. Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report - December 2021-22 (Pages 9 - 
62) 

6. SEND Transport  

 Report to follow. 
 

7. Levelling Up- The UK White Paper  

 Verbal Presentation 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such 
items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

 
 
Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
 



Wednesday, 23 February 2022 
 
 
 



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

CABINET 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Cabinet held in the Council Chamber, Sessions 
House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 27 January 2022. 
 
PRESENT: Mr R W Gough (Chairman), Mrs C Bell, Mr D L Brazier, Mrs S Chandler, 
Mr P M Hill, OBE, Mr D Murphy, Mr P J Oakford and Mrs S Prendergast 
 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
1. Apologies and Substitutes  
(Item 1) 
 
Miss Carey attended the meeting virtually. 
 
3. Minutes of the Meetings held on 9 December 2021 & 6 January 2022  
(Item 3) 
 
Resolved that the minutes of the meetings held on 9 December 2021 and 6 January 
2022 were a correct record and that they be signed by the Chair. 
 
4. Cabinet Member Updates  
(Item 4) 
 
1) Mrs Bell said that the overall Covid-19 rate had fallen by 3.9%. There were 7 
school outbreaks in the county and 7 outbreaks in care homes. Dover had the 
highest rate of 1034 cases per 100,000 closely followed by Tonbridge and Malling 
and Gravesham. Tunbridge Wells had the lowest rate at 783 cases per 100,000. 
Covid-19 rates were highest in school age children, with those age 5 to 9 years old 
showing a 66% increase on the previous week and cases in children aged 10 to 14 
years old had increased by 42% on the previous week. 
  
Outbreaks recorded in the prisons on the Isle of Sheppey and at the asylum centres 
at Ashford and Folkestone were being managed. PCR testing has fallen in the last 
week but reporting of lateral flow tests had remained stable. There had been a 
decline in the number of people in hospital with Covid-19 and staff sickness rates 
across the hospital trusts had not increased.  
 
The take up of the booster vaccination had continued to rise gradually. Dartford and 
Gravesham had the lowest rates of booster vaccination but rates of first and second 
doses were continuing to rise in 12-15 and 16-17 year olds. 
 
There had been issues with sporadic ‘anti-vaxx’ protestors at certain vaccination 
clinics and Kent Police had provided support for the clinics. 
 
The legal obligation to wear a mask in certain settings was being removed but KCC’s 
advice remained that the public should exercise caution and wear face coverings in 
settings such as supermarkets. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

2 

  
The government had announced that restrictions relating to Adult Social Care in 
England were to be eased from 31 January 2022. The limit to the number of visitors 
to care homes was to be removed, self-isolation periods were to be cut and care 
homes would only have to follow outbreak management rules for 14 days, not 28 
days. 
 
2) Mrs Prendergast said Covid-19 guidance in schools had been updated and face 
coverings were no longer advised for staff and pupils in communal areas of education 
settings. Directors of Public Health would only be able to recommend that staff and 
pupils wear masks in places where there were outbreaks or where the local public 
health situation justified it. This would require sign off from the Education Secretary. 
Circumstances in each school were different and some schools were experiencing 
significant levels of infection. KCC’s advice remained that dependent on the 
outcomes of their own risk assessment, they may decide to implement additional 
infection control measures. Officers were meeting regularly to exchange information 
and to ensure that schools were supported to best manage the change in regulations. 
 
On the Isle of Sheppey, under the umbrella of the government’s raising school 
standards and Levelling Up agendas, the DfE approached KCC regarding 
development of a partnership project to improve school outcomes within a 
geographic area. Since then, work had been underway to develop an evidence 
based model building the community and wider assets on the island. The project 
aimed to separate the link between deprivation and educational outcomes in a 
sustainable way by working with a group of schools, rather than focussing on 
individual schools. During the development phase, KCC had established a link with 
the Breaking Barriers initiative, a national organisation commissioned by Swale 
Borough Council.to develop a targeted place based approach to improve adult 
opportunities. Bringing together this level of expertise, experience and resources has 
the potential to make sustainable change on the island. KCC’s focus would be on 
improving parental engagement. 
 
Together with the Director for Education and the Lead Advisor for Education, Mrs 
Prendergast visited Goudhurst & Kilndown Church of England Primary School. The 
Executive Headteacher, Lindsay Roberts, had invited them to find out more about the 
impressive development work the school had been doing in collaboration with Kent 
and Medway Maths Hub and The Education People which had led to improvement 
across all ability levels. 
 
3) Mr Brazier said he had attended the planting of trees on Highways land in 
Sevenoaks as part of the Queen’s Green Canopy Scheme to celebrate Her Majesty’s 
Platinum Jubilee. Around 500 trees were to be planted in the county. 
 
News regarding the Department for Transport’s allocation of funds for the Bus 
Improvement Plan submission had not yet been received.  
 
There was to be a Border Facility at Dover intended for animal products and 
discussions had started with DEFRA about project management of the scheme. 
 
Mr Brazier and the Leader were to visit the Thanet Parkway train station which was 
under construction near Ramsgate. Completion was expected in 2022. 
 

Page 2



 

3 

4) Miss Carey said that the consultation on the Household Waste & Recycling Centre 
booking system had shown that more people were in favour of retaining it and 
furthermore, the consultation had shown that people wanted same-day bookings. The 
findings of the consultation were reported to the meeting of the Environment and 
Transport Cabinet Committee on 18 January 2022 and a clear majority of Members 
were in favour of keeping the booking system and same day bookings. Following the 
meeting, Miss Carey had taken the decision for the booking system to be retained. 
Thanks were given to the Waste Team who had been responsive and diligent 
throughout the process. A customer service improvement had come out of what had 
originally been a response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The Solar Together Scheme was a collective buy-in scheme for solar panels and 
batteries. It was open for householders and community buildings. Interest in the 
scheme was able to be registered and applications were to open on 7 February 2022. 
More information was on: kent.gov.uk 
 
Matt Smyth, who was Partership Director at South London Waste Partnership was to 
join KCC as Director of Environment and Waste.   
 
5) Mr Murphy said there was partnership working underway with Kent Invicta 
Chamber of Commerce and their CEO, Jo James, to fill the vacancies at Dover’s Port 
Health Facility. Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce’s social media presence would 
be used to promote the job roles. 
 
Commercial aviation had accounted for 2.5% of global carbon dioxide output per 
annum prior to the pandemic. HyPoint, a pioneering zero emission aviation company 
had located at Discovery Park in Sandwich. HyPoint made equipment powered by 
hydrogen. The company was to hold a virtual opening on 9 February where KCC 
would be represented. 
 
6) Mr Hill said the Winter Olympics being held in Beijing was to begin on 4 February. 
There were two representatives from Kent, Matt Weston from Tunbridge Wells who 
was competing for a skeleton medal and Taylor Lawrence from Westgate-on-Sea 
competing in the 4-man bobsleigh. 
 
7) Mr Sweetland said there had been an opportunity to consider the new People 
Strategy. The pandemic had led to key elements of the Strategy from 2017 being 
accelerated and it had been successfully delivered by the end of 2021. The new 
Strategy said KCC supported people to deliver to the best of their ability, celebrating 
the skills and talents of the diverse workforce. There was a clear link between these 
principles and the experience of residents and service users. The final version of the 
People Strategy was to be monitored through the Personnel Committee and key 
performance indicators. 
 
KCC’s staff turnover was 12.1% which was considered a healthy level for a large 
organisation. This had dropped to around 9% in March 2021 but prior to the 
pandemic, the turnover was about 12.4-12.8%. 
 
Staff sickness days had dropped significantly over the last two years. Mental health 
had been one of the top sickness issues reported. This was in line with the rest of the 
country. Steps were being taken to ensure staff were looked after in respect of their 
mental health. 

Page 3



 

4 

 
The latest Staff Survey had shown that most staff wanted to work flexibly and were 
happy with hybrid working. It was recognised that not all staff were able to easily 
work at home and there were office spaces available. The numbers of staff preferring 
remote working had increased between January and July 2021. Productivity had not 
dropped and most managers had created effective ways of measuring staff output. 
 
8) Mr Oakford said that work done by the Democratic Services Team deserved to be 
recognised. The team had ensured that meetings had continued in the last 2 years 
and KCC had maintained its services. The Schools’ Appeals Team within Democratic 
Services had been dealing with hundreds of school appeals, providing support and 
advice to schools across the county.  
 
New graduates were being recruited by Governance, Law and Democracy (GLD) 
after other graduates within the service had moved on, having qualified for further 
roles within the organisation. There was to be recruitment of school leaver 
apprentices to work in Data, Democracy and Law. 
 
Despite the pandemic, Democratic Services had delivered more meetings and more 
democratic activity than ever before. While some meetings have had to be held 
virtually, a full rosta of meetings had taken place throughout the municipal year. GLD 
were working on a range of solutions to improve efficiency, online access to legal, 
data and governance advice, helping with self-service and to ensure proper running 
of the organisation. Work had been undertaken in People and Communications to 
transform Members’ pages on Knet, which included information and resources to 
help them in their roles. The online resources were available alongside the support 
offer from Member Hub which had recently welcomed new team members. Thanks 
were given to staff who support Cabinet and Opposition Leaders. In an 
unprecedented time with considerable additional workloads across GLD, staff had 
worked hard to support the entire council and to support the outstanding services 
provided to Kent’s residents.  
 
5. Capital Programme 2021-24 and Revenue Budget 2021-22  
(Item 5) 
 
1) The Leader introduced the report and advised that the draft budget proposals had 
been published on 5 January, had been presented at Cabinet Committees and 
feedback had been received. Thanks were given to the portfolio holders for their input 
in the process. 
  
2) Mr Oakford said the draft budget proposals had been through process of being 
presented at Cabinet Committees and Scrutiny Committee. Finance officers have 
gone through questions and points raised by Members at those meetings. There was 
a requirement to consider those points and move forward to approve the budget 
proposals which were to be agreed at Full Council on 10 February. 
 
3) Children’s, Young People and Education Cabinet Committee 
 
In response to comments and questions raised, it was noted: 
 

Page 4



 

5 

 Directorates were to apply for funding from a central budget where 
demography related need could be evidenced and this contingency budget 
had been set aside specifically for demography related costs. 

  

 Mrs Chandler said that a review of Open Access was to take place later in 
2022 and would be subject to consultation. There were a range of savings in 
the budget. 

  

 Mrs Prendergast said school transport savings had not been possible. There 
was work underway to look at efficient ways of transporting children such as 
standard pick-up points, charging for post-16 and exploring options for the 
Kent 16+pass. 

  
4) Growth, Economic Development and Communities Cabinet Committee 
  
In response to comments and questions raised, it was noted: 
 

 The Strategic Reset Project was looking at how KCC was to move forward to 
future-proof and offer services in a more digital way. 

  

 A request for the reserves information to be set out in the final budget book. 
That has now been finalised and will be published with the budget before full 
council. 

 

 An extra £600,000 had been allocated to address some immediate issues with 
regard to the Country Parks and Public Rights of Way but additional funding 
would be welcomed to deal with the backlog. 
 

 During the pandemic, the cost of building materials and labour had gone up. 
The extraction of 106 agreements from developers was likely to become more 
difficult- it was planned to ‘beef up’ the team within existing resources. It was 
not proposed to seek additional resource. 

 
5) Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee 
 
In response to comments and questions raised, it was noted: 
 

 The budget situation was extremely challenging, coming out of a 2 year 
pandemic where some of the new costs are staying as ‘the norm’. There had 
been a huge increase in demand and complexity, which had impacted on the 
draft budget. 

 

 Further clarity was needed from central government as there would need to be 
a balance between environmental measures and housing developments. 

 

 Kent Highways were underfunded but the condition of Kent’s Highway network 
was better than ever within Mr Brazier’s memory due to the work of senior 
officers and Members. Climate change and the associated weather conditions 
had caused stress on the drainage system in Highways. 

 

 The Kent Travel Saver had been provided to the people of Kent for close to 15 
years and had been hugely successful and of enormous value to families who 

Page 5



 

6 

wanted to send their children to a selective schools. Prices had to increase 
over the years and that was likely to need to happen again.   

 
6) Adult Social Care Cabinet Committee 
 
In response to comments and questions raised, it was noted: 
 

 The aim of the fundamental redesign, Making A Difference Every Day was 
managing the situation with demand by doing things differently. Building 
community resilience, making better use of data and technological as well as 
working practice innovation were all important in delivering efficiencies but 
also improving user experience. 

 

 The Kent Homeless Connect was due to finish in September 2022 and work 
was being undertaken to understand the impact. Options were to be 
considered around transitional funding and ways of mitigating impacts were 
being explored. Discussions with district councils had been constructive and it 
was hoped that solutions could be found working together. 

 
7) Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee 
 
In response to comments and questions raised, it was noted: 
 

 Mr Oakford said that KCC had good financial management and was building 
financial resilience. Therefore, KCC was not under immediate threat of having 
to issue a Section 114 notice. 

 

 Local authority funding had been reduced through the period of austerity. It 
was noted that the last two years had not been ‘normal’ and central 
government had provided financial support to local authorities during this 
period. Central government had also provided support for businesses to keep 
people employed in the county. 

 

 Data showed KCC’s relative position to other councils with regard to debt 
reserves ratio as in the top of the bottom quartile. KCC had around £1 billion of 
debt, £100 million was to be paid each year to re-finance the debt. Around 
£400 million had been borrowed via a government Highways scheme and was 
to be paid back by government. Subsequently, the rules were changed and 
debt became KCC’s responsibility and this had a significant impact on KCC’s 
debt position. By the end of the year, the high needs deficit was to be around 
£100 million underwritten by government but if that were to change, KCC 
would be in a difficult financial position but this would apply to every authority 
across the country. 

 
8) Health Reform and Public Health Cabinet Committee 
 

 Mrs Bell said there was a national shortage of health visitors and this had 
been ongoing since before the pandemic. This was difficult for KCC to 
influence as they were recruited from the NHS workforce. The Key 
Performance Indicators showed as green and the service continued to show 
that contacts were happening. The service was performing well. 

 

Page 6



 

7 

 A cut to the Public Health grant was not anticipated. One of the assumptions 
was that there would be an inflationary increase to £71m. It was noted that 
demand had increased in the same way as demand had increased for other 
services provided by KCC. 

 

 The Contain Outbreak Management Fund was a contingency fund and funds 
could be rolled over to the next financial year. 

 
9) Scrutiny Committee 
 

 The Leader, Deputy Leader and other Cabinet Members attended. 
 

 There was an expected £20m overspend which looked like it would need to be 
funded from reserves. The underspends from previous years had been put 
into reserves. 
 

 New review and monitoring meetings were to take place quarterly to look at 
performance in great detail and management information would be made 
available earlier. 
 

 Reserves would not be used for discretionary services. 
 

 KCC would be working to drive down energy costs. There would be a 
reduction of costs as buildings not being used would be disposed of and 
investments made into building being used.  

 

 The increase in the interest rates was not likely to directly affect KCC but there 
was a risk to the budget if inflation continued to rise. It was noted that the 
increase in interest rates could affect the services providers commissioned by 
KCC. Services commissioned had inflationary rates built into their contracts. 
 

 In response to a query around whether the use of consultancy was a 
discretionary spend, it was noted that certain projects could not be moved 
forward without consultancy if there was no in-house expertise. 

 
10) The Leader thanked Mr Oakford and Cabinet colleagues for their part in 
discussions with Cabinet Committees. There were significant challenges relating to 
inflation and increases in demand moving forward. Government funding had been 
increased but did not reflect the increase in demand. 
 
The changes that were made to the way developer contributions were collected had 
been unfavourable to KCC. 
 
11) Mr Oakford said there were no formal amendments proposed. 
 
12) RESOLVED to endorse the draft budget to be presented to County Council on 10 
February for final decision.  
 
6. Special Educational Needs Strategy 2021-2024 - Update  
(Item 6) 
 
Matt Dunkley, Director of CYPE was in attendance for this item. 

Page 7



 

8 

 
1) Mrs Chandler said the report set out the additional ambition statement for SEND 
which was agreed in March last year. The statement showed how KCC planned to 
deliver a model of provision which promoted greater inclusion of children and young 
people within mainstream schools and the realignment of SEND schools in Kent. 
There was an aim for the proportion of children in each provision type to reflect 
Kent’s statistical neighbours and national averages. Considerable work and progress 
had been made in this area. 
 
Mrs Chandler said that one of the key paragraphs in the report was 2.3: 
 

The concept of a SEND inclusive mainstream school is underpinned by 
evidence that the educational experience and outcomes for many pupils with 
additional and special needs can be better in a mainstream school, and they 
are better prepared for adult life in society 

 
There were mainstream schools in Kent that had embraced inclusion and that had 
good outcomes for all pupils. The amazing work undertaken in special schools would 
continue to play an important part of the schools’ offer. 
 
There had been significant pressure and demand on services during the pandemic 
and these issues had been felt nationally. The situation was unsustainable and went 
against the wishes of parents and children who supported inclusion. 
 
Work had been undertaken in line with evidence that had emerged through 
engagement with schools, parents and carers. Significant progress had been made in 
workstreams identified in the Written Statement of Action, particularly on requests for 
ECHPs and completion of educational psychology assessments. KCC had been 
working closely with the Kent Parents and Carers Together Forum to make sure 
parents’ and carers’ views were understood. 
 
2) Mrs Prendergast said that she had worked closely with Mrs Chandler. There was 
comprehensive evidence showing benefits of SEND inclusion for pupils without 
SEND. It also played a huge role in increasing social inclusion and removing 
discriminative attitudes.  
 
3) Mr Dunkley said that there had been a commitment to inclusion but this update to 
the strategy would strengthen and emphasise the authority’s desire to no longer be 
an ‘outlier’ in terms of data and national averages. There was a danger of KCC 
becoming a financial outlier as a consequence of these differences. All outcomes 
would be better if KCC’s ambitions could be achieved and parents and carers had 
confidence that local schools could meet the needs of children with SEND. 
 
4) RESOLVED to agree the recommendations as outlined in the report. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



From: Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and 
Traded Services, Peter Oakford 
Corporate Director Finance, Zena Cooke 

To:   Cabinet, 3 March 2022 

Subject:  Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report – December 2021-22 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary:  

The attached report sets out the revenue and capital budget monitoring position as at 
December 2021-22 excluding and including the impact of Covid-19. 

Recommendation(s):   

Cabinet is asked to: 

a) NOTE the forecast Revenue monitoring position and endorse the need to continue 
taking urgent action to balance the budget by the year end. . 

b) NOTE the forecast Capital monitoring position and the development of the 10-year 
capital programme to address the level of slippage in the programme. 

c) NOTE the way we are monitoring the financial impact of Covid-19 

d) NOTE and AGREE the Capital budget adjustment. 

e) NOTE the Prudential Indicators report. 

f) NOTE the Reserves monitoring position. 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1 The December 2021-22 budget monitoring report being presented is the third 
monitoring position for 2021-22 and sets out the revenue and capital forecast position 
including the financial information related to the impact of Covid 19 on our resources. 

 
2  Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report – December 2021-22 
 
2.1 The attached report sets out the overall forecast position as at 31 December 2021-

22, which excluding Covid-19 for revenue is an overspend of +£13.9m which is a 
decrease of £4.7m compared to the previous reported overspend of +£18.6m.  The 
decrease is mainly due to a £4.6m underspend now being forecast by Growth, 
Environment and Transport directorate most significantly in the Highways, Transport 
& Waste division which primarily relates to staff vacancies, additional income and 
favourable recycling prices.  There is an underspend on capital of -£144.3m.   

 
2.2 The reported COVID-19 position shows forecast spend of £36.7m. There are 

corporately held COVID budgets of £16.1m and the remainder of the spend is to be 
met from the emergency COVID reserve, resulting in us currently showing the 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



position as breakeven. Without the additional government funding our forecast 
outturn would be £36.7m higher. 

 
2.2 Whilst the projected out-turn position has improved in the last quarter, continued 

action to address the current £13.9m overspend is critical to ensure we achieve a 
balanced budget by the year end. Any overspend at the year end will need to be 
funded from reserves and will put pressure on the 2022-23 revenue budget. 

 
2.3 The level of slippage in the Capital programme has increased by £21m since the last 

monitoring report. The development of a 10 year programme from 2022-23 together 
with a new capital monitoring and reporting IT solution should ensure capital 
programme budgets and delivery are more realistic. 

 
 3.  Recommendation(s) 

Cabinet is asked to: 

a) NOTE the forecast Revenue monitoring position and endorse the need to continue 
taking urgent action to balance the budget by the year end. 

b) NOTE the forecast Capital monitoring position and the development of the 10-year 
capital programme to address the level of slippage in the programme. 

c) NOTE the way we are monitoring the financial impact of Covid-19 

d) NOTE and AGREE the Capital budget adjustments. 

e) NOTE the Prudential Indicators report. 

f)  NOTE the Reserves monitoring position. 

 

4. Contact details 

Report Author Relevant Director 

Emma Feakins 
Chief Accountant 
03000 416082 
Emma.feakins@kent.gov.uk 

Zena Cooke 
Corporate Director Finance  
03000 419205 
Zena.cooke@kent.gov.uk 

 

Page 10



 
 

 

 

 

     
 Finance Monitoring Report 

As at December 21-22 
 

     
     
 By Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and Traded Services,  

Peter Oakford 
 

  Corporate Director Finance, Zena Cooke  
  Corporate Directors  
     
 To Cabinet – 3 March 2022   
     
  Unrestricted   
     
     
 Contents    

     
 Section    
 1 Introduction   
 2 Recommendations    
 3 Revenue   
 4 Covid-19   
 5 Adult Social Care & Health   
 6 Children, Young People & Education   
 7 Growth, Environment & Transport   
 8 Strategic & Corporate Services   
 9 Non-Attributable Costs   
 10 Schools’ Delegated Budgets   
 11 Savings   
 12 

13 
Capital 
Capital Budget Changes 

  

 14 
 

Treasury Management Monitoring 
 

  

     
     
 Appendices    
 A1 Revenue Variances Table   
 A2 

A3 
 

Monitoring of Prudential Indicators 
Reserves Monitoring 

  

     
  

Page 11



 
 

     
     
     
 Contact Details 

 

  

 Corporate Director Finance – Zena Cooke 03000 419 205 | zena.cooke@kent.gov.uk  
 Head of Finance Operations – Cath Head 03000 416 934 | cath.head@kent.gov.uk   
 Chief Accountant – Emma Feakins 03000 416 082 | emma.feakins@kent.gov.uk  
 Capital Finance Manager – Jo Lee 03000 416 939 | joanna.lee@kent.gov.uk  
 Capital Finance Manager – Julie Samson 03000 416 950 | julie.samson@kent.gov.uk  
 

Page 12

mailto:zena.cooke@kent.gov.uk
mailto:cath.head@kent.gov.uk
mailto:emma.feakins@kent.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.lee@kent.gov.uk
mailto:julie.samson@kent.gov.uk


1 Introduction  
 

 

This report sets out the Council’s financial position up to the end of December 21-22, setting out both business as 
usual activities and the impact of Covid-19 on our resources. The Revenue General fund forecast is a +£13.9m 
overspend which has decreased by £4.7m compared to the previous reported overspend of +£18.6m.  The decrease 
is mainly due to the -£4.6m underspend forecast in the GET directorate.  ASCH and CYPE continue to forecast 
significant overspends of +£14m and +£7.1m respectively. Capital budget adjustments are also included which 
require Cabinet approval. 

1.1 Additional sections will be 
included in future reports. 

Further sections will be added in future monitoring reports, including: 
• A high-level analysis by expenditure type 
• Key Financial Health Indicators 
• Financial Resilience indices 

 

1.2 The overall Revenue General 
Fund forecast is a +£13.9m 
overspend.  This is a decrease of 
£4.7m compared to the previous 
reported overspend of +£18.6m. 
 
 

The Revenue General Fund forecast position is a net overspend of 
+£13.9m. The forecast net spend of £1,141.9m includes a net contribution 
to reserves of £3.4m; the source of funding will be determined at year-
end, once the final position is presented. 
 
The largest variance is +£14m in ASCH, with an overspend also forecast in 
CYPE (+£7.1m). Underspends are being forecast in GET (-£4.6m), S&CS (-
£2.1m) and NAC (Corporately Held Budgets) (-£0.5m). The previously 
reported position by directorate were overspends in ASCH (+£13.9m) and 
CYPE (+£6.8m); and underspends were being forecast in S&CS (-£1.4m), 
NAC (-£0.5m) and GET (-£0.2m).  Details can be found in the individual 
directorate sections. 
 
Without the one-off Covid grants our forecast overspend would be £36.7m 
higher, bringing the total overspend to £50.6m. 
 

1.3 £0.6m is requested to be rolled 
forward to 2022/23 

The final outturn position may change if any roll forwards are agreed. 

1.4 The Covid-19 forecast is a total 
spend of £36.7m. This is shown 
as a breakeven position as the 
additional spend is being met 
from the Covid-19 emergency 
reserve. 

The additional spend of £20.6m above the corporately held budget of 
£16.1m for Covid-19 is being funded from a drawdown from the Covid-19 
emergency reserve, bringing the current position to breakeven. 
 
There is £55.6m held in the emergency reserve. £12.3m needs to be rolled 
forward for Helping Hands and Reconnect into 2022/23, which leaves 
£22.7m for any further Covid related costs during the remainder of this 
financial year or into 2022/23. 
 
Details can be found in the Covid-19 section and the individual directorate 
sections. 
 

  

Page 13



1 Introduction  
 

 

1.5 The Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
are reporting a +£54m 
overspend. 

The overspend position of +£54m reflects the impact of high demand for 
additional SEN support and high cost per child of High Needs Placements. 
The projected deficit on the High Needs budget has increased by £49m in 
this year from £62m at the end of the 2020-21 and will be in excess of 
£105m by the end of this financial year. The High Needs deficit is the 
Council’s single most significant financial risk which therefore requires 
continued action. 

1.6 The Capital forecast is an 
underspend of -£144.3m. 

The underspend is made up of +£2.0m real and -£146.3m rephasing 
variance, which represents 30% of the budget. 
 
The largest real variance is an overspend of +£26.0m in GET. Details can be 
found in the capital sections. 
 
The major rephasing variances are -£71.6m in GET and -£61.5m in CYPE. 
Details can be found in the capital section. 
 

 

Page 14



2 Recommendations  
 

 

Cabinet is asked to: 

2.1 Note the forecast Revenue 
monitoring position and endorse 
the need to continue taking 
urgent action to balance the 
budget by the year end.  

Action to address the current £13.9m overspend is critical to ensure we 
achieve a balanced budget by the year end. Any overspend at the year 
end, that is over and above the £10m set aside to meet pressures in this 
financial year will need to be funded from reserves and will put pressure 
on the 2022/23 revenue budget. The position regarding previously 
agreed savings will also need to be reviewed, including those identified as 
no longer achievable in this year. 

2.2 Note the forecast Capital 
monitoring position and the 
development of the 10-year 
capital programme to address 
the level of slippage in the 
programme. 

The Capital programme is reporting slippage of £146.3m which 
represents 30% of the budget. The level of slippage in the Capital 
programme has increased by £21m since the last monitoring report. The 
development of a 10-year programme from 2022/23 together with a new 
capital monitoring and reporting IT solution should ensure capital 
programme budgets and delivery are more realistic. 

2.3 Note the way we are monitoring 
the financial impact of Covid-19 

Please refer to Section 4 for details. 

2.4 Note and agree the Capital 
budget adjustments 

Please see Section 13 for details. 

2.5 Note the Prudential Indicators 
report 

Please refer to Appendix 2. 

2.6 Note the Reserves monitoring 
position 

Please refer to Appendix 3. 

 

 

Page 15



3 Revenue 
General Fund forecast +£13.9m overspend 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) +£54m overspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

 
 

   General Fund Forecast position as overspend/(underspend) 

              

  

Directorate 
Revenue 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Last reported 

position (Sept) 

Movement  
(+/-) 

    £m £m £m £m £m 

  Adult Social Care & Health 431.1  445.1 14.0  13.9  0.1 

  Children, Young People & Education 302.3 309.4  7.1  6.8  0.3 

  Growth, Environment & Transport 182.4  177.8  (4.6) (0.2)  (4.4) 

  Strategic & Corporate Services 95.8  93.7  (2.1) (1.4) (0.7) 

  Non Attributable Costs 115.8  115.8  0.0 0.0 0.0  

  Corporately Held Budgets 0.5  0.0  (0.5) (0.5) 0.0  

  General Fund 1,128.0  1,141.9  13.9 18.6  (4.7)  

              

  Ringfenced Items           

  Schools' Delegated Budgets  0.0 54.0  54.0  52.8  1.2  

  Overall Position 1,128.0  1,195.9  67.9 71.4  (3.5)  

              

  Covid Forecast position as overspend/(underspend) 
          

  
Directorate 

Covid-19 
Allocation 

Covid-19 
Forecast 

Covid-19  
Variance 

    £m £m £m 

  Adult Social Care & Health 7.0  10.9 3.9 
  Children, Young People & Education 5.3  12.7 7.4 
  Growth, Environment & Transport 0.4  3.5 3.1 
  Strategic & Corporate Services 1.3  9.3 8.0 
  Non-Attributable Costs 2.1 0.3 (1.8) 
  Variance to Covid-19 Budgets held corporately 16.1  36.7 20.6 
  Drawdown from COVID-19 Reserve     (20.6) 

  Total Covid-19 Position     0.0  
          

General Fund 

The General Fund forecast position is a net overspend of +£13.9m, all of which relates to Adult Social Care and 
Children, Young People and Education. The forecast of £1,141.9m includes a net contribution to reserves of £3.4m; 
the source of funding will be determined at year-end.  There is £10m set aside in a risk reserve as agreed as part of 

Page 16



3 Revenue 
General Fund forecast +£13.9m overspend 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) +£54m overspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

 
 

the 20-21 outturn that can be used to mitigate in part the projected overspend, but action will be required to address 
the remaining overspend.  

There are currently £0.6m of roll forward requests and the final outturn position may change if any roll forwards are 
agreed. 

Covid-19 

The Council’s response to the pandemic continues to be considerably complex, causing uncertainty to the forecast. 
This is due to the nature of the financial impact, ranging from additional expenditure, market sustainability payments, 
loss of income, and unachieved savings.  The forecasting in this area is also impacted by the effect of the relaxation in 
restrictions, ongoing costs, and the expected withdrawal of a range of government support schemes.  

Each directorate has a corporately held, COVID 19 budget amounting to £16.1m in total. Any additional expenditure 
will be met from the COVID-19 reserve.  The forecast is breakeven after contributions from reserves of £20.6m. There 
is £55.6m held in the COVID-19 reserve. £12.3m needs to be rolled forward for Helping Hands and Reconnect into 
2022/23, which leaves £22.7m for any further Covid related costs during the remainder of this financial year or into 
2022/23.  Further details of Covid-19 related costs are detailed in Section 4 and the individual directorate sections. 

Without the one-off COVID grants, our forecast overspend position would be £36.7m higher, bringing it to £50.6m. 
The impact of COVID on our spend may be ongoing, particularly in Adults and Children’s social care and if this pressure 
continues, we could see a significant impact on our 3-year medium term plan. 

Schools’ Delegated Budgets 

The forecast overspend is +£54m.  The DSG deficit will increase from £51m to £105.1m in 2021/22. This is almost 
entirely due to an increase in the High Needs budget deficit, which is the Council’s single biggest financial risk which 
therefore requires continued action.  The Council continues to work with the Schools’ Funding Forum to set out the 
challenge and agree and deliver a plan to address the deficit.  The Department for Education has made contact to 
discuss the detail of our plan and next steps as to how we will address the deficit. For more information, please refer 
to section 10. 

Page 17



4 Covid-19 Total impact of Covid-19 is breakeven 
 

 
Categories ASCH CYPE GET S&CS NAC Total 

              
  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Covid-19 Allocation held corporately 7.0  5.3  0.4  1.3  2.1  16.1  
Contribution from Public Health Reserve*           0.0 

Forecast Real spend 10.2  11.9 5.4 9.8 0.0 37.3 
Underspends (0.1) (2.5) (13.4) (1.6) 0.0 (17.6) 

Loss of income 0.2  1.1 2.9 1.1 0.3 5.6 
Unrealised savings 0.0 2.1  0.1 0.0  0.0 2.2 

Market sustainability - loans 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Market sustainability - one off payments 0.5  0.1  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6  

Payments for undelivered services (fixed fee) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Payments for undelivered services (variable fee) 0.1  0.0 8.5 0.0 0.0 8.6 

Total Covid-19 Forecast 10.9 12.7 3.5 9.3 0.3 36.7 
Variance to Covid-19 Budgets held 

corporately 3.9 7.4 3.1 8.0 (1.8) 20.6 

Contribution from Covid-19 Reserve (3.9) (7.4) (3.1) (8.0) 1.8 (20.6) 

Total Covid-19 Position 0.0 0.0  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
              

* Any Public Health net spend relating to Covid-19 will be funded by a drawdown from the Public Health reserve.   

As a consequence of Covid-19, the total additional expenditure impact (excluding ring-fenced grants spend) on 
General Fund services is forecast to be £36.7m. There is £16.1m of budget allocated for Covid-19 which is held 
corporately.  £20.6m additional expenditure will be funded from a drawdown from the Covid-19 reserve. 

There is £55.6m held in the Covid-19 reserve. £12.3m needs to be rolled forward for Helping Hands and Reconnect 
into 2022/23, which leaves £22.7m for any further Covid related costs during the remainder of this financial year or 
into 2022/23. 

 

Page 18



5 Adult Social Care & Health General Fund forecast +£14m overspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 
        Forecast Variance 

  

  
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Last reported 

position 
(Sept) 

Movement  
(+/-) 

    £m £m £m £m £m 
  Adult Social Care & Health Operations 388.3  404.4  16.1  14.3  1.8 

  
Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 

(ASCH)  
33.4  31.5  (1.8) (0.4) (1.4) 

 Public Health 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 
  Business Delivery 9.5  9.2 (0.3) 0.0 (0.3)  
  Adult Social Care & Health 431.1  445.1  14.0  13.9  0.1 
              

    
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Contribution 

to/(from) 
Reserves 

Net impact 
on General 

Fund 

    £m £m £m £m £m 

  Covid-19 forecast position 7.0  10.9  3.9  (3.9) 0.0 
 

The Adult Social Care & Health directorate has a projected overspend of +£14m.  
 
The £445.1m forecast includes a net £1.2m drawdown from reserves. The drawdowns include £0.8m for the Digital 
Implementation (Mosaic) project and £0.7m for use of the community discharge grant reserve. In addition, there is 
a contribution to the Leap year reserve of £0.2m.  
 
There is an underlying Covid-19 projected additional spend of +£3.9m, which is offset by a contribution from 
reserves to show a breakeven position. Uncertainty remains around the ongoing impact Covid-19 will have on 
services. 
 
Details of the significant variances on the General Fund are shown below: 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

Older People - Residential 
Care Services (Adult Social 

Care & Health Operations) 

+£19.0m High levels of 
complexity requiring 
additional support & 
non-achievement of 
savings. 

This is largely due to people leaving hospital with increased 
complex needs requiring additional support. The impact of 
lockdown restrictions has also resulted in individuals delaying 
receiving support and less access to the use of preventative 
services. There has also been an increase in situations where it 
is considered detrimental to move an individual to a lower cost 
placement as a result of Covid restrictions affecting how 
quickly people are discharged from hospital and the care that 
was provided at that point. 
 
A range of actions are underway or planned to mitigate this 
budget pressure. These include:  
• Ensuring that appropriate health contribution is secured 

to meet care and support needs where continuing health 
care is applicable 

• Increased scrutiny of requests where it is deemed that it 

Page 19



5 Adult Social Care & Health General Fund forecast +£14m overspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

would be detrimental to move a client 
• Commissioning and completion of a bed brokerage review  
• Additional therapy resources being deployed to support a 

more streamlined hospital discharge process 
 
In addition, a portion of this overspend is due to delays in 
delivering the service redesign, as referenced in the savings 
section of this report. 

Older People - 
Community Based 

Services (Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

-£7.2m The number of 
clients receiving a 
community care 
service has not 
increased as 
expected. 

There is severe pressure in the social care market especially 
relating to workforce capacity. This has manifested partially as 
lack of availability of suitable homecare packages resulting in 
more clients receiving alternative support. There is a resulting 
underspend within this budget due to lower than anticipated 
number of clients remaining at home and receiving support in 
the community and may be the cause of corresponding 
overspends against the budget for residential care. The 21-22 
budget anticipated increasing numbers of clients receiving 
support in the community rather than residential care. This has 
not been achieved as referenced in the savings section of this 
report. 

Adult Learning Disability - 
Residential Care Services 

& Support for Carers (Adult 
Social Care & Health Operations) 

+£3.9m Learning Disability 
Residential Care has 
high levels of 
complexity and high-
cost packages 
transferring from 
Children’s Services. 

The high level of additional complex needs seen in young 
people transitioning from Children’s Services into Adult Social 
Care has resulted in a significant increase in care costs above 
negotiated contract price increases. CQC inspections of some 
providers and home closures have resulted in a need to find 
alternative placements, some of which are at a higher cost. 

Adult Mental Health - 
Community Based 

Services (Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

+£2.6m Mental Health 
Supported Living 
numbers increasing. 

The majority of the overspend relates to clients receiving 
Supported Living care packages. The number of people with 
packages of care has increased over and above anticipated 
levels, and at a more significant rate than before the start of 
the pandemic 

Adult Physical Disability - 
Community Based 

Services (Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

+£2.5m Increased complexity 
and higher costs 
than anticipated. 

Most of the overspend relates to clients receiving Supported 
Living care packages where the Council is seeing increased 
complexity of need increasing costs. Action is being taken to 
resist these increasing costs including commissioning 
community voluntary sector pilots to provide support in the 
home. 

Physical Disability 26+ 
Lifespan Pathway & 

Sensory and Autism 18+ - 
Community Based 

Services (Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

-£1.8m Decrease in one-off 
Direct Payments. 

Most of the underspend (£1m) on these services relates to 
Direct Payments where the normal level of one-off payments 
to clients has significantly decreased during the year. The 
remainder is partially due to a misalignment of sensory and 
autism budgets which will be resolved in 2022-25 Medium 
Term Financial Plan. 

  

Page 20



5 Adult Social Care & Health General Fund forecast +£14m overspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

Adult Learning Disability - 
Community Based 

Services & Support for 
Carers (Adult Social Care & 

Health Operations) 

+£1.7m Learning Disability 
(LD) 26+ Supported 
Living has seen an 
increase in activity 
numbers and average 
weekly costs. 

Learning Disability Community Based Services are seeing 
similar overspends to Physical Disability and Mental Health 
(described above). There are higher than average package 
costs for young adults transitioning into Adult Services from 
Children’s services. Clients with particularly high packages of 
care will be under regular review to ensure that care needs can 
be met using the most efficient use of resources. 

Strategic Management & 
Directorate Support 

(ASCH) (Strategic Management 
& Directorate Budgets (ASCH) 

-1.8m Centrally held funds 
to cover underlying 
overspends 
elsewhere. 

This underspend relates to central funds held for new 
initiatives which have now been released to cover underlying 
overspends already recognised within the forecast. A budget 
realignment process has corrected this for 2022-23. 

Adult Mental Health - 
Residential Care Services 

(Adult Social Care & Health 
Operations) 

-1.5m Planned retender 
exercise delayed to 
the end of the year. 

This underspend relates to a planned retender exercise for the 
Residential Service which has slipped to the end of this year. 
The budget held for this retender will not be used in this year 
but is required for the full year effect in 2022-23. 

Adult In House 
Enablement Services (Adult 
Social Care & Health Operations) 

-1.0m Vacancy slippages 
and delayed 
recruitment. 

Most of this underspend relates to vacancy slippage and delays 
in recruitment. 

Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here: 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

Covid-19 Allocation held corporately £7.0m  

Forecast Real Spend £10.2m The cost of supporting additional demand for services resulting 
from Covid-19, including a range of projects to tackle backlogs in 
addition to increased staffing requirements. Includes £1.6m of 
costs related to “Helping Hands” schemes; an emergency fund 
designed to help Kent’s most vulnerable households and 
businesses hardest hit by the pandemic. 

Underspends (£0.1m) Underspends in day care relating to the first quarter of 2021-22 as 
some centres have remained closed during this period due to 
COVID-19. 

Loss of income £0.2m Relates to where day services are still not providing the same level 
and type of service as before meaning that clients cannot be 
charged for those periods 

Market Sustainability £0.5m We are expecting to have to continue to support the social care 
market during the recovery period of the pandemic in 2021-22 so 
are assuming a £0.5m cost at this stage. 

Payments for undelivered services (variable 
fee) 

 

£0.1m Relates to instances when providers are unable to complete a call 
due to Covid (for example, the client is shielding, or the provider 
has staff who are isolating), the Council will still pay for the call. 

Total Covid-19 Forecast £10.9m  

Covid-19 additional spend £3.9m  

Page 21



5 Adult Social Care & Health General Fund forecast +£14m overspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

Contribution from Reserves (£3.9m)  

Revised Covid-19 position £0.0m  

 

Page 22



6 Children, Young People & Education General Fund forecast +£7.1m overspend  
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

 
 

        Forecast Variance 

    
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Last 

reported 
position 

(Sept) 

Movement  
(+/-) 

    £m £m £m £m £m 
  Integrated Children's Services (East & West) 159.3  159.4  0.1  0.2 (0.1)  
  Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 82.7  85.7  3.0  1.0 2.0 
  Education 56.2  61.0  4.7  6.1 (1.4) 
  Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets (CYPE) 4.0  3.3  (0.7) (0.5) (0.2) 

  Children, Young People & Education 302.3  309.4  7.1  6.8 0.3  
             

   
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Contribution 

to/(from) 
Reserves 

Net impact 
on General 

Fund 

   £m £m £m £m £m 

  Covid-19 forecast position 5.3  12.7  7.4  (7.4) 0.0 
              

 

The Children, Young People & Education directorate is projected to be overspent by +£7.1m. This is due to a delay in 
the implementation of the Special Educational Needs (SEN) transport re-procurement coupled with higher demand 
along with pressures across the children social work service and higher costs of supporting looked after children. This 
is partially offset by lower accommodation costs of supporting Care Leavers.  

The £309.4m forecast includes a net £1.3m drawdown from reserves. This includes a £1.5m drawdown relating to the 
Reconnect project. There are smaller drawdowns and contribution relating to PFI equalisation and Change for Kent 
Children transformation programme. 

The Covid-19 underlying additional expenditure is £7.4m (before contributions from reserves of £7.4m), mainly due to 
higher number of referrals for Special Educational Needs services and delays in the ability to achieve budgeted social 
care savings. COVID restrictions at the start of the year have also meant a greater dependency on use of temporary 
accommodation to provide sufficient school places and reductions in income from adult education courses. 
Uncertainty remains around the ongoing impact that Covid-19 will have on services. This also includes the 
contribution to the Reconnect Programme agreed by Cabinet in the 2020-21 Outturn Report.   

  

Page 23



6 Children, Young People & Education General Fund forecast +£7.1m overspend  
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

 
 

Details of the significant variances on the General Fund are shown here: 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

Home to School Transport 
(Education) 

+£5.1m Delays in re-procurement of 
transport contracts and 
increase in demand 

The re-procurement of the SEN transport contracts has 
been put back due to delays in the implementation of 
new software to support this project (+£3.0m). 
The September pupil numbers indicate a significant 
increase in the number of children requiring SEN 
transport with 10% year on year increase in the number 
travelling. This is a consequence of the higher EHCP 
numbers and greater number of children with SEN not 
being educated in their local school. This forecast 
includes an allowance for further increases in the 
coming months (total pressure of +£2.1m) 

Other School Services 
(Education) 

-£0.5m Various school related costs Delays in basic need projects due to 
archaeological/environmental factors have resulted in 
use of more temporary accommodation to ensure 
sufficient school places from September (+£0.6m).  This 
is offset by other underspends totalling -£1.1m 
including the use of the School Improvement Grant to 
meet the costs of existing services, and lower costs 
associated with statutory testing/maintenance of school 
properties.   

Care Leaver Services 
(Integrated Children Services) 

-£2.4m Lower accommodation 
related costs of supporting 
care leavers 

The service has been working to reduce the number of 
children in semi-independent placements to ensure 
young people are placed in the most cost-efficient 
placements. This has resulted in an underspend of 
approximately -£1.5m. The number of young people 
requiring support with their council tax continues to 
remain lower than initially estimated leading to a 
further -£0.6m underspend. The balance relates to an 
underspend on staffing (-£0.3m). 

Children's Social Work 
Services - Assessment & 

Safeguarding Service 
(Integrated Children Services)  

+£0.8m Additional social workers 
required to meet demand 

Higher sickness and maternity levels coupled with 
increased complexity of Children in Need cases has led 
to a requirement for more social workers and higher 
number of agency staff to meet demand. 

Looked After Children - 
Care & Support (Integrated 

Children Services) 

+£1.7m Increased number and cost 
of residential placements  

The number of looked after children has remained fairly 
static but the cost of placements continues to rise with 
a greater number being placed in more expensive 
external settings as no suitable alternative is available. 
The average cost of residential placement has risen by 
over 20% in 2 years.  

  

Page 24



6 Children, Young People & Education General Fund forecast +£7.1m overspend  
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

 
 

Adult Learning & Physical 
Disability Pathway - 

Residential Care Services 
& Support for Carers 

(Special Educational Needs & 
Disabilities) 

+£0.7m Increased cost of residential 
placements 

The number of young people has reduced in residential 
care but the average cost of placements has increased 
due to complexity and lack of availability of suitable 
placements.  

Looked After Children 
(with Disability) - Care & 
Support (Special Educational 

Needs & Disabilities) 

+£0.8m Increased number and cost 
of residential placements 

We have seen a significant number of new placements 
earlier in the year than expected. The average cost of 
residential placement has risen by over 20% in 2 years. 

Special Educational Needs 
& Psychology Services 

(Special Educational Needs & 
Disabilities) 

+£0.6m Increased use of agency Difficulties in the recruitment of suitably qualified 
Education Psychologist and SEN officers has led to an 
increasing use of agency staff.  

Strategic Management & 
Directorate Budgets 

-£0.7m Lower early retirement costs Fewer redundancies in schools’ staff over the past year 
has resulted in lower early retirement commitments. 

Asylum (Integrated Children 
Services) 

£0.0m Forecasting breakeven The Asylum service is currently forecasting a breakeven 
position following an increase in the grant rate paid for 
care leaver services and a new financial arrangement to 
fund the Reception & Safe Care service, ensuring new 
referrals are fully funded prior to moving through the 
national transfer scheme or, where there is capacity, 
remaining in Kent.  

 

Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here: 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

Covid-19 Allocation held corporately £5.3m  

Forecast Real Spend £11.9m • Latent demand estimates for Children Social Services: 
additional staffing to cover increased staff sickness and 
increased complexity of children in need cases. Court 
delays resulting in higher legal costs due to protracted 
court proceedings & increased number of hearings.   

• Delays in the basic need capital programme resulting in 
greater use of temporary accommodation to meet 
demand for school places and higher contractor costs.  

• Increased demand for Education, Health and Care Plan 
assessments and supportive services following 
interruption to schooling due to COVID restrictions. 

• Reconnect programme: community-based programme to 
support children post COVID.  

Page 25



6 Children, Young People & Education General Fund forecast +£7.1m overspend  
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

 
 

Underspends (£2.5m) • Delay in recruitment in detached youth workers   
• Delay in the commissioning of the SEND parenting 

programme 
• Savings from the phased re-opening of children centres 

and youth services at the start year  

Loss of income £1.1m • Reduction in income whilst the adult learning services 
recovers following prolonged closures due to COVID 
restrictions.  

• Reduction in 16+ travel saver income where numbers of 
children have not yet recovered to pre-COVID levels.  

Unrealised savings £2.1m Delay in the delivery of children social care savings due to:  
• COVID restrictions delaying or reducing the impact of new 

initiatives to increase the number of children supported 
in in-house foster care rather than more expensive 
alternatives.  

• The demand for children’s social workers increasing 
during COVID, due to increased staff sickness and 
increased complexity of children in need cases therefore 
delaying the planned reduction in agency staff. 

Market Sustainability £0.1m Additional payments to support tutors in adult learning services 

Total Covid-19 Forecast £12.7m  

Covid-19 additional spend +£7.4m  

Contribution from Reserves (£7.4m)  

Revised Covid-19 Position £0.0m  

 

Page 26



7 Growth, Environment & Transport General Fund forecast -£4.6m underspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 
  
        Forecast Variance 

    
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Last reported 

position (Sept) 
Movement  

(+/-) 
    £m £m £m £m £m 
  Highways, Transportation & Waste 150.5  147.3  (3.2)  0.3  (3.5) 
  Environment, Planning & Enforcement 17.5  16.5  (1.0) (0.4) (0.6) 
  Libraries, Registration & Archives 8.6  8.4  (0.2) (0.1) (0.1) 
  Economic Development 4.4  4.4  0  0.1  (0.1)  
  Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets (GET) 1.4  1.2  (0.2) (0.1) (0.1)  

  Growth, Environment & Transport 182.4  177.8  (4.6) (0.2)  (4.4) 
              

    
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Contribution 

to/(from) 
Reserves 

Net impact 
on General 

Fund 

    £m £m £m £m £m 

  Covid-19 forecast position 0.4  3.5  3.1  (3.1) 0.0 
              

 

The Growth, Environment & Transport directorate is projected to be underspent by -£4.6m, excluding Covid. The 
underspend has increased by -£4.4m since the September monitoring report, with the most significant change in 
Highways, Transportation & Waste and is predominately due to staff vacancies, additional income and favourable 
recycling prices. The directorate is requesting roll forwards totalling £0.5m, predominantly due to projects that have 
been re-phased and will now occur in quarter 1 of 2022-23.  After roll forward requests the underspend is -£4.1m. 

The £177.8m forecast includes a net £1.2m drawdown from reserves. The drawdowns include £0.7m relating to Brexit 
costs in Traffic Management and Trading Standards.  

The Covid-19 underlying expenditure is £3.0m above budget, before contributions from reserves of £3.0m are applied 
to present a breakeven position. Uncertainty remains around the ongoing impact that Covid-19 will have on services 
and whether current activity levels are still part of recovery or are indeed the new-normal baseline going forward.  

Page 27



7 Growth, Environment & Transport General Fund forecast -£4.6m underspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

Details of the significant variance on the General Fund are shown below: 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

Highway Asset 
Management (Roads & 

Footways), (Highways, 
Transportation & Waste) 

+£1.4m Shortfall in income and 
other minor variances 

Reduction in fee income relating to managing the 
coordination and construction of the White Cliffs inland 
border facility near Dover, which will now be managed 
through DEFRA rather than the County Council 
(+£1.0m). This was a one-off target so has not been 
reflected in the 2022-23 budget build.  

Kent Travel Saver 
(Highways, Transportation & 

Waste) 

-£0.3m Payments to operators 
lower than anticipated. 

This is due to anticipated additional costs not 
materialising.  

Public Protection 
(Enforcement) 

(Environment, Planning & 
Enforcement) 

-£0.7m Staffing, additional income 
and other minor variances. 

Staffing vacancy management and several other minor 
variances including additional income within Trading 
Standards. Within this position are underspends 
totalling -£0.2m that the division would like to request 
to be rolled forward including -£0.1m relating to the 
Serious and Organised Crime pilot which has been 
delayed (this is funded from a roll forward from 
2020/21 rather than base budget). 

Highway Asset 
Management (Other), 

(Highways, Transportation & 
Waste) 

-£1.0m Additional income and other 
minor variances slightly 
offset by staffing 
overspends. 

Additional permit and street works income (-£1.4m) 
plus volume and price savings in streetlights energy      
(-£0.4m), partially offset by overspends within drainage 
(+£0.6m) and soft landscaping costs (+£0.2m second 
weed spray).  

Highways, Transport & 
Waste Management Costs 
& Commercial Operations 

(Highways, Transportation & 
Waste) 

-£1.2m Staffing, additional income 
and other minor variances. 

Staffing vacancy management and several other minor 
variances including additional grant income within the 
Public Transport Business.  

Waste Facilities & 
Recycling Centres 

(Highways, Transportation & 
Waste) 

-£2.1m Favourable recycling prices Favourable prices relating to the material recycling 
facility and anaerobic digestor contracts, as well as 
additional income for paper, card and metal (-£2.7m).  
 
This improved position has been reflected in the 2022-
23 budget build. These savings are offset in part by 
pressures including one-off costs relating to new 
contracts in East Kent and some refurbishments at 
HWRCs (+£0.7m).  

 
  

Page 28



7 Growth, Environment & Transport General Fund forecast -£4.6m underspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 
Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here: 
 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

Covid-19 Allocation held corporately £0.4m  

Forecast Real Spend £5.4m Primarily relates to the sustained increase in kerbside tonnes being 
presented at Waste Transfer Stations (including increased cost of 
haulage) (£3.7m overall), Helping Hands schemes within Economic 
Development (0.6m), provision for emergency mortuary provision 
(£0.4m) together with other minor costs within Coroners, 
Libraries, and Economic Development around backlogs and social 
distancing/self-isolating measures. The increase in kerbside waste 
tonnages has been reflected in the 2022-23 budget build as whilst 
linked to Covid, this appears to be the new baseline given more 
people are home-working and will continue to do so, so this 
represents a shift from commercial waste disposal to KCC waste 
disposal costs. 

Underspends (£13.4m) Public Transport costs eligible for Government grant and a 
reduction in English National Concessionary Travel Scheme 
(ENCTS) journeys is the primary element. Other general 
underspends across the directorate due to homeworking and 
reduced activity. Reduced activity levels have been reflected in the 
2022-23 budget build, on the assumption that this will be the 
budgeted level of usage going forward. The reduced activity for 
ENCTS and Kent Travel Saver (KTS) has been reflected in the 2022-
23 budget as this is forecast to be the new baseline usage.  

Loss of income £2.9m Income loss primarily relates to the Kent Travel Saver (less passes 
in issue), as well as reduced operations at Libraries, Registration 
and fewer Driver Awareness Courses with other minor income 
impacts across various services. 

Unrealised savings 
 

£0.1m  

Payments for undelivered variable fee services £8.5m Support to maintain financial stability, mainly in public transport 
(ENCTS and KTS), partially offset by Government grant. This is in 
line with the Government request to continue paying operators at 
budgeted levels, even if activity is lower than expected. 

Total Covid-19 Forecast £3.5m  

Covid-19 additional spend £3.1m (includes £0.4m allocation held corporately) 

Contribution to/ 
(from) Reserves (£3.1m) 

 

Revised Covid-19 position £0.0m  

 

Page 29



8 Strategic & Corporate Services General Fund forecast (£2.1m) underspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 
        Forecast Variance 

    
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Last reported 

position 
(Sept) 

Movement  
(+/-) 

    £m £m £m £m £m 
  Infrastructure 28.2  27.5  (0.7) (0.7) 0 
  Corporate Landlord 25.3  24.9  (0.4) (0.5) 0.1 
  People & Communication 13.7 13.6  (0.1) (0.1) 0 
  Finance 12.3  12.4  0.1  0.1 0  
  Strategic Commissioning 7.3  6.8  (0.5) (0.1) (0.4) 
  Governance, Law & Democracy 6.9  7.1  0.2  0.2 0  

  
Strategy, Policy, Relationships & Corporate 

Assurance 3.8  3.6  (0.2) 0.0 (0.2) 

  Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets (S&CS) (1.7) (2.2) (0.4) (0.3) (0.1) 

  Strategic & Corporate Services 95.8 93.7  (2.1) (1.4) (0.7) 
              

    
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Contribution 

to/(from) 
Reserves 

Net impact 
on General 

Fund 

    £m £m £m £m £m 

  Covid-19 forecast position 1.3  9.3  8.0 (8.0) 0.0  

 
The Strategic & Corporate Services directorate is projected to underspend by -£2.1m excluding Covid.  The directorate 
are requesting roll forwards totalling £0.1m. After roll forward requests the underspend is -£2.0m. 
 
The £93.7m forecast includes a £4.0m net drawdown from reserves. The drawdowns include £2.8m for the Strategic 
Reset Programme, £1.8m to cover election costs, netted off by one-off contributions to reserves of £0.6m. 
 
The Covid-19 underlying expenditure is +£8.0m (before contributions from reserves of £8.0m).  Uncertainty remains 
around the ongoing impact Covid-19 will have on services. 

Details of the significant variance on the General Fund are shown below: 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

Infrastructure -£0.7m Staff vacancies held whilst 
new structure is finalised 

Underspend against staffing budgets in both Property 
and ICT services due to vacancies unfilled until new 
structure is agreed. One-off underspend -£91k on 
Kent Enterprise Partnership Shared Workspace 
project delayed start which will be the subject of a 
roll forward request. Unbudgeted income from 
school meals contract rebates related to prior years. 
Staffing underspend on emergency planning service 
due to the early delivery of a 2022-23 saving from 
ending the on-call payments scheme. 

  

Page 30



8 Strategic & Corporate Services General Fund forecast (£2.1m) underspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

Strategic Commissioning -£0.5m Additional new burdens 
Grant funding 

Additional grant New Burdens funding for Domestic 
Violence Team; staff saving due to vacancy 
management; underspend on CIPS -£50k which will 
be subject to a roll forward request. Increased 
recharge to CYPE for Asylum commission work.   

Strategic Management 
and Directorate Budgets  

-£0.4m Reduced early retirement 
costs 
 

Due primarily to reduced early retirement costs and 
reduced spend on controllable budgets to offer an 
underspend. 

Corporate Landlord -£0.4m Refunds due to business 
rates reviews 

Reduced costs on business rates due to rates reviews. 
Review of open purchase orders leading to 
cancellation of accruals no longer needed. 

Governance Law & 
Democracy 

+£0.2m Increased specialist fees Mainly due to staffing in members services and 
specialist fees in General Counsel partially offset by 
additional appeals income. 

Strategy Policy 
Relationships & 

Corporate Assurance 

-£0.2m Staff vacancies Vacancy management within the policy team. 

 

Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here: 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

Covid-19 Allocation held corporately £1.3m  

Forecast Real spend £9.8m Council Tax and hardship fund support payments to district 
councils, part of the Helping Hands project. Crowd funding 
match funding, and Members’ Local Covid Support Grants.  
Increased revenue contribution to capital because of delays to 
capital projects due to Covid-19.   
Additional ICT infrastructure to enable staff to work from 
home, such as laptops and licenses for A2K and Microsoft 
Teams, and mobile handheld devices. Call diversion costs on 
SIP exchange and early implementation of Microsoft E5 
licences. Enhanced cleaning specification. Replacement chairs 
for Hybrid working. Additional staffing costs in Client Financial 
services. Costs of taking appropriate Covid secure measures in 
elections. 

Underspends (£1.6m) Reduced costs for printing and copying with an offsetting 
reduction included in Loss of Income (below). There are 
savings on Total Facilities Management and utility costs due to 
some properties being closed for the early part of the year.  

Loss of income £1.1m For Managed Print there is forecast reduced income with an 
offsetting cost saving in underspends (above). Forecast loss of 
rental income on various properties. 

Total Covid-19 Forecast £9.3m  
Page 31



8 Strategic & Corporate Services General Fund forecast (£2.1m) underspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven 

 

Covid-19 additional spend +£8.0m  

Contribution from Reserves (£8.0m)  

Revised Covid-19 position £0.0m  

   

 

Page 32



9 Non-Attributable Costs General Fund forecast (£0.5m) underspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven  

 

 
 

      Forecast Variance 

    
 

Budget 

Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Last reported 

position 
(Sept)  

 
Movement 

(+/-)  
    £m £m £m £m £m 
  Non-Attributable Costs 115.8  115.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 
  Earmarked Budgets Held Corporately 0.5  0.0 (0.5) (0.5) 0.0 

  Net Total incl provisional share of CHB 116.3  115.8 (0.5) (0.5) 0.0 
       

  

 
 
 

Budget 

 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Net 
Revenue 
Forecast 
Variance 

 
Contribution 

to/(from 
Reserves 

 
Net impact 
on General 

Fund 
  £m £m £m £m £m 

  Covid-19 forecast position 2.1  0.3 (1.8) 1.8 0.0 
             

The Non-Attributable Costs are projected to be breakeven. The £115.8m forecast includes a net contribution to 
reserves of £11.1m. The main contributions are £5.5m relating to the expected return from our wholly owned 
subsidiaries, £3.5m estimated business rate levy which will be transferred to reserves as per the Reserves Review and 
£1.9m due to MRP recalculation. There are other smaller contributions linked to retained business rates levy and the 
Insurance Fund. In addition, there is a drawdown of £1.1m to fund the shortfall in S31 grant for Covid related Business 
Rate reliefs. 
 
There is an underlying Covid-19 projected spend less than budget of (£1.8m). Uncertainty remains around the ongoing 
impact Covid-19 will have on services. At year-end any underspend will be transferred to reserves. 
 
 
Details of the significant variances on the General Fund are shown below: 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

Non-Attributable Costs £0.0m Compensating under and 
overspends. 

There are a number of compensating under and 
overspends, of which the main variances are: 
 
+£0.9m reduction in Council Tax Income Guarantee 
(TIG) compared to the budget assumption. 
+£0.8m net shortfall in compensation for 2020-21 covid 
related losses of sales, fees and charges compared to 
the accrual in the 2020-21 accounts and estimated 
compensation losses in the first quarter of 2021-22. 
-£0.7m Business Rates TIG that had not been reflected 
in the budget due to the timing of information. 
-£0.5m increase in Extended Rights to Free Travel grant. 
-£0.3m underspend on net debt costs. 
 

 
  

Page 33



9 Non-Attributable Costs General Fund forecast (£0.5m) underspend 
Covid-19 forecast breakeven  

 

 
 

 

Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here: 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

Covid-19 Allocation held corporately £2.1m  

Loss of income £0.3m Loss of investment income 

Total Covid-19 Forecast £0.3m  

Covid-19 spend less than budget (£1.8m)  

Contribution to Reserves £1.8m  

Revised Covid-19 position £0.0m  

 

Page 34



10 Schools’ Delegated Budgets Reserves estimate -£49.1m deficit 
 

 

The latest forecast for the Schools’ Delegated Budget reserves is a surplus of £56.1m on individual maintained 
school balances, and a deficit on the central schools’ reserve of £105.1m.  
 
The balances of individual schools cannot be used to offset the overspend on the central schools reserves and 
therefore should be viewed separately. The table below provides the detailed movements on each reserve.  
 
The Central Schools Reserve holds the balance of any over or underspend relating to the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG). This is a specific ring-fenced grant payable to local authorities to support the schools’ budget. It is split into four 
main funding blocks, schools, early years, high needs and central, each with a different purpose and specific rules 
attached. The Council is required to hold any under or overspend relating to this grant in a specific reserve and is 
expected to deal with any surplus or deficits through future years’ spending plans. 
 

 Individual 
School 

Reserves 

Central  
Schools 
Reserve 

Note: a negative figure 
indicates a drawdown 
 from reserves/deficit 

Balance brought forward 56.0 -51.0 

Forecast movement in reserves:   

Academy conversions and closing school deficits 0.1  

School Block Related Spend  -11.7 

High Needs Placements, Support & Inclusion 
Fund 

 -42.9 

Underspend on Early Years  0.6 

Overspend on Central DSG Budgets  -0.1 

Forecast reserve balance 56.1 -105.1 

 
 
In accordance with the statutory override implemented by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
(MHCLG) during 2020-21, and in line with the Department for Education (DfE) advice that local authorities are not 
expected to repay deficits on the DSG from the General Fund and can only do so with Secretary of State approval, the 
central DSG deficit of £105m will be held in a separate unusable reserve from the main council reserves. This statutory 
override is expected to be in place until April 2023 whilst Councils implement recovery plans. The Council continues to 
work with the Schools Funding Forum to set out the challenge and agree a plan to address the deficit. The 
Department for Education has made contact to discuss the detail of our plan and next steps as to how we will address 
the deficit. The DSG deficit is the Council’s single biggest financial risk; therefore the finalisation and successful 
implementation of the Council’s deficit recovery plan is critical.  This plan will be influenced by the long awaited 
outcome of the national review of SEND that is expected to be published in late Spring.  
 

Page 35



10 Schools’ Delegated Budgets Reserves estimate -£49.1m deficit 
 

 

Key Issues Details 

School Block: One-off 
Settlement 

The DSG Reserve as at 31st March 2021 of £51m is formed from a net surplus on the 
Schools Block of £11m and a net deficit on the High Needs block of £62m. The two 
blocks of funding have different purposes and rules and Secretary of State Approval is 
needed to transfer funding from the schools block to other funding blocks. The Schools 
Block funds primary and secondary schools’ budgets, and the accumulated balance 
from previous years underspend of £11m, has been fully committed to be paid to 
schools in 2021-22, as a one-off additional payment to support the cost of changes to 
the calculation of pay for term time only staff.   

Early Years: general 
underspend 

The Early Years Block is used to fund early years’ providers the free entitlement for 
eligible two, three and four-year olds.  Each year, when setting the funding rate an 
estimate must be made as to likely hours that will be provided to ensure it is affordable 
within the grant provided. This can lead to minor under or overspends if activity is 
slightly lower or higher than expected. This has led to an underspend of £0.6m, which 
will be used to offset 20-21 overspend on this grant.  

Reduction in 
government funding 
for Central Services 

Since 2020-21, the Government has reduced the funding used to support some of the 
central services currently funded from the DSG (£2.5m). In the short-term this has 
been addressed through the Medium-Term Financial Plan (£1.8m) without any direct 
impact to schools; however, during the next year we will need to review our 
relationship with schools in line with Government policy and funding and implement 
changes that will eliminate the funding shortfall. 

Higher demand and 
higher cost for high 
needs placements 

The High Needs Block (HNB) is intended to support the educational attainment of 
children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) and 
pupils attending alternative education provision. The HNB funds payments to 
maintained schools and academies (both mainstream and special), independent 
schools, further education colleges, specialist independent providers and pupil referral 
units. Some of the HNB is also retained by KCC to support some SEND services 
(staffing/centrally commissioned services) and overheads. 
 
The net deficit on the high needs block was £62m as at 31st March 2021 and is 
estimated to increase to over £105m by 31st March 2022. The overspend on the high 
needs block has been growing significantly over recent years and is the most significant 
financial risk to the council. 
 
The forecast in-year funding shortfall for High Needs placements and support in 21-22 
is +£49m due to a combination of both higher demand for additional SEN support and 
higher cost per child resulting from greater demand for more specialist provision. The 
levels of growth are similar to previous years, since the introduction of the legislative 
changes in 2014, which also saw the expansion of duties to the age of 25 without 
sufficient extra funding.   However, the increases locally are increasing at a faster rate 
than the other comparative councils and the council is now placing a greater 
proportion of children in both special and independent schools compared to other 
local authorities, and a smaller proportion of children with SEND included in 
mainstream schools.  The tables below detail the trend in both spend and number of 
HNB funded places or additional support across the main placement types. In 2021-22 
this pressure is being partially offset by a one-off underspend on activities to support 
inclusive practices in mainstream schools (-£9m).  
 

Page 36



10 Schools’ Delegated Budgets Reserves estimate -£49.1m deficit 
 

 

Work has been underway to establish how this fund should be used but activity in 
relation to this programme of spend did not start until September 2021 due to Covid-
19 related delays. 

 Table: Total Spend on High Needs Block by main spend type 
 18-19 

£’ms 
19-20 
£’ms 

20-21 
£’ms 

21-22 
£’ms 

Maintained Special School 87 97 106 124 
Independent Schools 36 40 49 61 
Mainstream Individual 
Support & SRP* ** 

31 38 46 54 

Post 16 institutions*** 16 16 17 19 
Other SEN Support Services 42 44 49 50 
Total Spend 212 234 264 308 

*Specialist Resource Provision 
** Please note this data excludes any costs incurred by primary & secondary schools 
from their own school budget. 
***Individual support for students at FE College and Specialist Provision Institutions 
(SPIs)  
 
Table: Average number of HNB funded pupils receiving individualised SEN 
Support/placements. This is not the total number of children with SEN or number of 
EHCPs.  

 18-19 
No 

19-20 
No 

20-21 
No 

21-22 
No 

Maintained Special School 4,349 4,751 5,118 5,587 
Independent Schools 796 907 1,126 1,360 
Mainstream Individual 
Support & SRP*  

3,278 39,22 4,510 5,297 

Post 16 institutions*** 1,046 1,196 1,281 1,451 
Total Number of Pupils 9,468 10,776 12,035 13,695 

 
Table: Average cost of HNB funded pupils receiving individualised SEN Support or 
placement cost. 

 18-19 
£s per pupil 

19-20 
£s per pupil 

20-21 
£s per pupil 

21-22 
£s per pupil 

Maintained Special 
School 

£20,010 £20,330 £20,629 £21,693 

Independent Schools £44,871 £43,851 £43,734 £44,853 
Mainstream Individual 
Support & SRP*  ** 

£9,461 £9,691 £10,294 £10,113 

Post 16 institutions*** £15,723 £13,393 £13,309 £13,241 
 
The Government has launched a major review into support for children with SEN; 
however, the outcome has been delayed again and is not expected until Spring 2022. 
In the interim, further funding is being provided; however, as can be seen from the 
forecast, this has been insufficient to meet the demand and Kent will need to take 
further actions to ensure we are able to support children with SEN sustainably, in 
partnership with the Schools Funding Forum.  
 
 

Page 37



10 Schools’ Delegated Budgets Reserves estimate -£49.1m deficit 
 

 

The Written Statement of Action (WSoA), put in place to address a number of areas of 
concern raised in the 2019 Ofsted/CQC Local Area SEND Inspection, overlaps in a 
number of places with our strategy for reducing the pressure on the High Needs 
budget which includes: 
 

• Reviewing our commissioning strategy for SEN provision across the county 
including supporting the development of new special schools and Specialist 
Resource Provisions to reduce our increasing reliance on independent schools 
including the opening of two new special schools last year which when fully 
opened will avoid over 350 higher cost placements. 

• Reviewing commissioning arrangements including independent providers, 
home tuition and therapy services. 

• Improving parental confidence through supporting inclusive practice and 
capacity building in mainstream schools to reduce reliance on special and 
independent schools. This will support the Local Authorities ambition set out in 
the recent report presented to Cabinet in January setting out the Local 
Authorities intention to support a model of provision where the proportion of 
children and young people supported in each provision type (mainstream and 
specialist provision) will move more closely reflect both statistical neighbours 
and national averages.   

• Further collaborative working with Health and Social Care partners 
 
Work is progressing; however, progress has been slower/paused/stopped due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. There are also wider concerns on the longer-term impact of 
children being out of school during the last year on this budget. However, we are 
unlikely to know the full impact of the pandemic until 2022-23.   

 

 

Page 38



11 Savings Target for year £39.4m 
£30.3m savings to be delivered 

 

 
 

  

Directorate 

21-22 
Target 

Previous  
year 

saving 
delivered 
in 2021-

22 

 Not 
achieved 
in 2021-

22 

Saving 
no 

longer 
required 

Not 
Deliverable 

Over 
Recovery 

Forecast 
Savings 

2021-22 
    £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

                  

  Adult Social Care & Health 13.0    (5.0)       8.0  
  Public Health 4.7      (1.2)     3.5  
  Children, Young People & Education 5.9  2.2  (5.9)       2.2  
  Growth, Environment & Transport 8.5    (0.4)   (1.0)   7.1  
  Strategic & Corporate Services 1.4            1.4  
  Non Attributable Costs 5.9          2.2  8.1  

  Total 39.4  2.2  (11.3) (1.2) (1.0) 2.2  30.3  
 

 

The savings target for 2021/22 is £39.4m with £30.3m forecast to be achieved.  

• £28.1m of the £39.4m 2021/22 savings are on track to be delivered.  
• CYPE have identified a saving of £2.2m in relation to the previous year’s savings. This brings the total forecast 

saving to £30.3m in 2021/22 
• A net position of £11.3m is forecast for ASCH, CYPE and GET as not achieved in 2021/22 and will slip into 

future years due to timing issues; 
• £1.4m has been identified by GET as undeliverable in 2021/22, with £0.3m of this due to Covid and this 

element has been funded from the Covid grant. £1m is due to a one-off management fee income target that 
is no longer deliverable; 

• The Public Health grant announcement in March 2021, which was after the 2021/22 budget was set, means 
that £1.2m of the budgeted savings are no longer required; 

• The S&CS budget savings for 2021-22 are £1.4m and are on track to be delivered; 
• The NAC overachieved saving is due to MRP underspend and reduction in debt charges. 

 

Explanation of the Directorate Savings variances are shown below: 

11.1 The ASCH budget savings for 
2021-22 are £13.0m of which 
£8.0m is identified as being on 
track to be delivered and £5.0m 
forecast to slip into future years. 

The slippage is due to delays in delivering the service redesign because of 
the immense pressure on the service due to the COVID pandemic, both in 
terms of increased demand and people with more complex needs 
requiring support. In addition, there are severe pressures in the social care 
market especially relating to workforce capacity, meaning that it has been 
more difficult for some of the proposed new ways to commission and 
arrange support to be delivered in the original time frames. 

  

Page 39



11 Savings Target for year £39.4m 
£30.3m savings to be delivered 

 

 
 

11.2 The CYPE budget savings for 
2021-22 £5.9m plus a £2.2m 
previous year saving. £2.2m has 
been identified as on track to be 
achieved and the remaining 
£5.9m has been slipped into 
future years. 
 
 
 

CYPE budget savings for 2021/22 were set at £5.9m and £2.2m of a prior 
year savings target has been added to the 2021/22 target, a total of £8.1m.  
£2.2m is forecast to be achieved this year, of which £1.3m relates to the 
2021/22 savings and £0.9m relates to the prior year savings target. 
 
The remaining £5.9m savings has been slipped into future years and is due 
to:  

• the restructure and retender of SEN transport network not being 
delivered until 2022/23 due to delays in re-procurement. 

• efficiency savings to offset the anticipated 20% annual reduction in 
Dedicated Schools Grant: Central Services for Schools Block has 
not been achieved and is to be considered as part of a wider 
review of the DSG and services currently paid for on behalf of the 
schools.  

• £2.1m of CFKC savings has been slipped to future years where 
COVID has continued to delay delivery. 

 

11.3 The GET budget savings for 
2021/22 are £8.5m, of which 
£7.1m is identified as being on 
track to be delivered and £1.4m 
has been identified as 
undeliverable in the current 
year. 

Of this £1.4m shortfall, £0.3m has been funded from the Covid grant. The 
key challenge for the remaining £1.1m shortfall is a forecast under-
recovery (£1.0m) of the £2m management fee income target relating to 
works delivered on behalf of Government. The second of the two key 
projects will now be commissioned directly and therefore KCC will not 
benefit from the income from managing and coordinating the 
contract/works. Despite this significant shortfall in one-off income target, 
hence no impact on future years’ budgets, the directorate overall is 
forecasting a net underspend. 

11.4 The NAC budget savings for 
2020-21 are £5.9m with £8.1m 
forecast to be achieved. 

Of the £2.2m over achievement, £1.9m relates to additional Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) saving due to fewer assets becoming operational 
in 2020-21 due to slippage in the programme, but this is simply re-phasing 
of MRP into future years. In addition, there is a reduction in PWLB 
borrowing costs due to using cash balances or short-term borrowing to 
fund capital expenditure. 

 

 

Page 40



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

 Directorate Capital 
Budget 

Variance excl. 
Covid-19 

Real 
Variance 

Rephasing 
Variance 

Covid-19 
Forecast 

 Adult Social Care & Health 3.7 -3.1 -0.2 -2.9  0.0 

 Children, Young People & 
Education 

163.1 -85.5  -24.0 -61.5 3.5 

 Growth, Environment & 
Transport 288.6 -49.6  26.0 -75.6 0.1 

 Strategic & Corporate Services 24.9 -6.1 0.2 -6.3 0.8 

 TOTAL 480.3 -144.3 2.0 -146.3 4.4 

  
The total approved General Fund capital programme in 2021/22 is £480.3m. This includes a total of £58.3m slippage 
rolled forward from the previous year. 

The current estimated capital programme spend for the year is forecast at £336.0m (excluding covid), which 
represents 70.0% of the approved budget. The spend to date is £238.9m, representing 49.7% of the total approved 
budget. 

The directorates are projecting a -£144.3m underspend against the budget, this is split between a +£2.0m real 
variance and -£146.3m re-phasing variance.  

The major variances (>£0.1m real variances and >£1.0m rephasing variances) are described below. Previously 
reported variances are shown in italics: 

 

Adult Social Care & Health: 

Project Real 
Variance 

£m 

Rephasing 
Variance 

£m 

Detail 

New variances to report:    

No new variances to report    

Previously Reported Variances:    

Learning Disability Good Day 
Programme 

 -1.8 All projects within this programme are on hold pending 
review.  Previously reported -£1.6m. 

 

  

Page 41



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

Children, Young People & Education: 

Project Real 
Variance 

£m 

Rephasing 
Variance 

£m 

Detail 

New Variances to Report:    

Annual Planned Enhancement 
Programme 

+0.9 -2.4 The real variance reflects schemes to be completed under 
the Decarbonisation Fund, for which there is additional 
funding (+£1.2m), and -£0.25m grant to be vired to the High 
Needs Provision budget. 
The rephasing is due to delays on projects across the 
programme due to covid. 
 

Basic Need Kent Commissioning Plan 
2016 

-1.3  The main projects making up the real underspend are as 
follows: 
-£1.635m Wilmington Grammar, due to an additional 
contribution of Condition Improvement Funding (CIF). 
+£0.491m Wilmington Academy, due to additional highways 
works. 
+£0.107m Seal Primary due to retention that was previously 
excluded from the forecast. 
-£0.180m Sellindge Primary, final costs are less than 
expected. 
-£0.120m Harrietsham Primary, project complete with final 
costs less than expected. 

Basic Need Kent Commissioning Plan 
2017 

-22.9 -18.8 The real variance is due to: 
-£19.0m Park Crescent Academy due to the project no 
longer progressing. 
-£1.2m savings due to 3 projects completing early. 
+£0.2m Canterbury Academy, due to original budget 
allocation being incorrect. 
-£0.2m St Gregory’s – project is complete.  Costs were 
negotiated due to variations added without approval. 
-£0.2m River Mill – project was completed by the DfE. 
 
The rephasing variance is due to: 
-£5.2m Meopham School, delays due to a highways planning 
objection, redesign required and re-submission for planning 
approval. 
-£3.8m Thamesview School, school not now required until 
2023. 
-£3.5m SEN satellite required in West Kent, site to be 
determined. 
-£3.5m Beacon Satellite, commercial strategy with 
procurement has led to delays in obtaining approval. 
-£1.8m Ursuline College, rephasing due to design 
clarifications required. 
-£1.0m Westlands – this is a school managed project. 

Page 42



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

Basic Need Kent Commissioning Plan 
2018 

-0.1 -14.8 Rephasing is due to: 
+£1.7m Sevenoaks Selective School – early completion on 
the main project. 
-£5.2m Gravesend Grammar School, first design has been 
rejected and a redesign is required. 
-£4.0m Simon Langton Boys School, rephasing due to 
planning issues. 
-£3.7m The Abbey School, although internal works have 
been completed during the summer of 2021, the main 
scheme has been deferred until next year. 
-£2.9m Dartford Bridge Primary, project rephased as it is not 
now required until a later year. 
-£0.6m Garlinge Primary, rephasing due to a change to the 
location of the expansion. 

Basic Need Kent Commissioning Plan 
2019 

0.1 -14.2 Rephasing is due to: 
-£3.6m Wrotham School, rephasing pending confirmation of 
a CIF bid. 
-£3.1m Chilmington Green Secondary – the agreement 
required to forward fund the early works has been delayed. 
-£2.4m Invicta Grammar, rephasing pending funding 
agreement with the school. 
-£1.7m Queen Elizabeth’s Grammar, rephasing due to 
feasibilities being re-done. 
-£1.4m Nexus, rephasing due to feasibility studies taking 
longer than anticipated due to site constraints. 
-£0.9m Borden Grammar – project is still in design stage, 
and abnormals have been identified. 
-£0.8m Maidstone Grammar – project has been pushed back 
to 2023. 

Basic Need Kent Commissioning Plan 
2021-25 

-2.5 -5.5 Real variance is due to: 
A project has been removed from this line as it is included 
within an earlier KCP (-£4.3m).  There is forecast spend on 
early feasibilities for projects which are expected to go 
ahead in future years which has reduced this underspend to 
–£2.5m.  
 
Rephasing is due to: 
-£3.5m the Abbey School, subsequent phase of this project 
has been deferred. 
-£0.6m St Peters Primary, Aylesford – due to a delay in 
receiving a formal instruction to proceed. 
-£0.5m Dover Christ Church Academy – the project has been 
pushed back to 2022-23. 
-£0.4m Guston CEPS – the project has been pushed back to 
2022-23. 
-£0.4m St Mary of Charity – a change of headteacher has 
required a revised feasibility. 

  

Page 43



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

Overall Basic Need Programmes   Over the life of the Basic Need Programmes there is 
currently a forecast overspend of £5.2m.  This is being 
carefully monitored and funding streams such as developer 
contributions are being sought to reduce the overall 
pressure.  All projects follow specification BB103 and BB104 
and value engineering is undertaken to ensure best value. 

High Needs Provision 0.3 -1.3 Real variance is due to a virement from Annual Planned 
Enhancement programme. 
 

Previously Reported Variances:    

Annual Planned Enhancement 
Programme 

0.2 -1.6 The rephasing is due to delays on projects across the 
programme due to covid.  
 

Barton Court Academy Free School  +1.5 This is a Department for Education (DfE) project being 
managed by KCC.  The project is now progressing well and is 
ahead of schedule. 

School Roofs  -4.3 The works on Birchington Primary will now be completed in 
summer 2022. Previously reported -£4.2m 

Priority School Build Programme 0.4  Real variance is due to: 
+£0.1m contribution from Annual Planned Enhancement 
Programme (cash limit change requested). 
The remaining overspend is to be funded from additional 
grant. 

Nest 2  -1.5 The project is still at discussion/planning stage hence the 
rephasing. 

 
 
  

Page 44



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

Growth, Environment & Transport: 
 

Project Real 
Variance 

£m 

Rephasing 
Variance 

£m 

Detail 

New Variances to Report:    

Highway Major Enhancement 
(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

 -17.9 The works on the Thanet Way cannot be undertaken until 
the start of 2022-23 due to COVID recovery of businesses 
and lack of road space during the period of recovery. There 
have also been delays to the works on structures/tunnels 
and lighting due to both internal and external resource 
shortages.  These are both grant funded projects.  The 
remainder of asset management works will be completed in 
the early part of the new financial year.  
 

Government Transition Works 
(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

16.5  This project is fully grant funded from the Department for 
Transport who have requested further works at the Ashford 
Sevington site.  Additional grant funding is being claimed to 
cover these works.  (Previously reported +£19.6m). 

Dover Inter Border Facility (Highways, 
Transportation & Waste) 

+£4.6m  The project is fully grant funded, initially from the 
Department of Transport, and now from Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) for the 
remainder of the works.   
 (Previously reported -£3.0m). 

Tunbridge Wells Junction 
Improvements (Highways, Transportation 

and Waste) 

-0.2  The scheme is now complete and the funding being reduced 
accordingly.  (Previously reported -£0.6m). 

Dartford Town Centre (Highways, 
Transportation & Waste) 

 -3.2 This project is delayed due to COVID resulting in contracting 
and procurement delays. 

Faversham Swing Bridge (Highways, 
Transportation & Waste) 

 -1.2 The outline design on this project has been progressed but 
there are delays with the engagement of partners therefore 
the budget has been rephased to 22/23. 
 

Decarbonisation Fund –Solar Farms 
(Environment, Planning & Enforcement) 

+2.9  The Kings Hill Solar Farm project is now underway.  The real 
variance is due to the funding not yet being reflected in the 
budget.  The project is expected to be funded from the 
decarbonisation fund grant and climate change fund.  
(Previously reported +£0.2m).  

  

Page 45



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

Previously reported variances:    

Thanet Parkway (Environment, Planning & 
Enforcement) 

 8.8 Phasing of the scheme has been brought forward in line with 
latest project plans.   
The overall cost of the scheme has increased due to Network 
Rail cost increases and higher than expected costs for the 
level crossings.  Alternative funding is being sought and will 
be closely monitored. (Previously reported +£6.4m). 

Public Rights of Way (Environment, 
Planning & Enforcement) 

0.4  Additional schemes have been added for which additional 
grant and external funding is expected.  

Kent Scientific Services Equipment & 
Vehicles (Environment, Planning & 

Enforcement)  

0.4  Purchase of new equipment and a vehicle to be funded from 
revenue. 

Leigh Flood Storage Areas 
(Environment, Planning & Enforcement) 

 -1.5 The rephasing is due to awaiting the decision from the 
Secretary of State on this scheme following a public enquiry 
earlier this year. 

Digital Autopsy (Environment, Planning & 
Enforcement)   

 -2.2 Delivery of this project has been pushed back due to delays in 
the procurement of the digital autopsy provider as the 
revenue and capital elements of the scheme are inter-linked.  

Kent Thameside Strategic Transport 
Programme (Highways, Transportation and 

Waste) 

 -5.0 There has been a delay to the Thames Way project due to 
the designation of a “site of specific scientific interest” of the 
Swanscombe peninsular and Ebbsfleet Central area. 

Maidstone Integrated Transport 
(Highways, Transportation and Waste)  

 -3.4 The rephasing is due to various planning issues and 
amendments to the programme.  A full overhaul of the 
programme and spend profile is currently underway. 

Market Square, Dover (Highways, 
Transportation and Waste) 

 -1.1 Dover District Council have agreed to increase their 
contribution by £0.7m which is now required in 2022-23.  The 
delays on the project are due to more extensive archaeology 
surveys being required. (Previously reported +£0.7m real and 
-£1.6m rephasing). 

Fastrack Full Network – Bean Road 
Tunnels (Highways, Transportation and 

Waste) 

 -10.0 The construction start has been delayed due to the design 
being more challenging than originally expected. 
Construction will now start at the end of 2022.  (Previously 
reported -£9.4m). 

Page 46



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

Housing Infrastructure Fund – Swale 
(Highways, Transportation and Waste) 

 -5.0 Spend was reprofiled to reduce KCC liability and risk in year 
20-21, with a knock-on effect of delays on the programme 
through planning and construction. Although a funding 
agreement has been signed with Homes England this is 
conditional on the M2 Junction 5 project being delivered by 
Highways England coming forward. An extension to the 
funding agreement has been accepted by Homes England 
with funding extension granted until June 2024.  This scheme 
is grant funded.  (Previously reported -£4.4m). 

Herne Relief Road (Highways, 
Transportation and Waste) 

 -1.9 The rephasing is due to planning delays and delays securing 
the land agreements which are now in place. (Previously 
reported -£2.0m). 

Kent Strategic Congestion 
Management (Highways, Transportation 

and Waste) 

0.9  The A2/A251 priority junction scheme was added to this 
project within the Local Growth Fund programme in 20/21 
following approval by KMEP and SELEP Boards. It aims to 
make improvements to the junction capacity and promote 
journey time improvements through the signalisation of the 
junction. The real variance is the external funding that has 
been received into the programme and which is required to 
complete this scheme.  (Previously reported +£0.9m). 

National Productivity Investment 
Fund – Kent Medical Campus 

(Highways, Transportation and Waste) 

 -4.6 There is a delay in commencing the construction works 
caused by delays of two planning applications that are now 
expected to go to the committees in February 22. Works are 
expected to start in April 22 and take about a year to 
complete. (Previously reported -£3.7m). 

Sturry Link Road (Highways, 
Transportation & Waste) 

 -6.0 The project has been delayed by approximately 6 months 
due to waiting for planning permission, which has now been 
granted.   (Previously reported -£6.0m). 

Green Corridors (Highways, 
Transportation and Waste) 

 -3.0 The programme is just getting started and some stages will 
not begin until 22-23. (Previously reported -£2.4m). 

A2 Off Slip Wincheap, Canterbury 
(Highways, Transportation and Waste) 

 -1.5 All budgets rephased to future years as the Homes England 
bid was not successful but alternative funding is being 
sought. 

Trees Outside Woodlands (Highways, 
Transportation & Waste) 

0.1  The project is funded by the Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) and the real variance reflects 
expected funding; the cash limits for which will be amended 
once funding is received. (Previously reported £0.1m real). 

Javelin Way Development (Economic 
Development) 

0.1  To be funded by additional external funding.   

Page 47



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

Marsh Million (Economic Development) -0.3  The project has come to an end.  It is proposed that this will 
be transferred to the No Use Empty budget line and will be 
prioritised for spend on projects within the Romney Marsh 
area. 

Kent Empty Property Initiative 
(Economic Development) 

+0.5  Additional external funding received.  (Previously reported 
+£0.9m) 

Kent & Medway Business Fund 
(Economic Development) 

2.2 -9.4 Real variance is due to transfer from the Recovery Loan Fund 
and the Capital Growth Fund, both of which have come to an 
end. 
 
Rephasing variance is due to funds not being able to be 
defrayed in the current environment and due to availability 
of other grant and loan schemes during the pandemic. 
(Previously reported -£8.6m). 

Kent & Medway Business Fund – 
Recovery Loan Fund (Economic 

Development) 

-1.2  Transferred back to the Kent and Medway Business Fund as 
this fund has come to an end. 

Kent & Medway Business Fund – 
Capital Growth (Economic Development) 

-1.0  Transferred back to the Kent and Medway Business Fund as 
this fund has come to an end. 

Innovation Investment Initiative (i3) 
(Economic Development) 

 -2.6 The rephasing reflects that there is unlikely to be another 
application round during this financial year due to time 
constraints and the focus on the Kent & Medway Business 
Fund Scheme. (Previously reported -£2.0m). 

 

  

Page 48



12 Capital General Fund forecast (144.3m) underspend 
 

 

 
 

 

Strategic & Corporate Services: 

Project Real 
Variance 

£m 

Rephasing 
Variance 

£m 

Detail 

New variances to report:    

Modernisation of Assets  0.2 -2.7 Real variance is due to additional funding available. 
Rephasing is due to delays caused by covid. 

Previously reported variances:    

Dover Discovery Centre  -1.9 Rephasing due to planning risk which could delay the project. 
(Previously reported -£1.5m). 

Live Margate  -1.7 The actual plots of the surplus properties on the Royal School 
for the Deaf site are still being confirmed, therefore the 
majority of the Live Margate acquisition and development 
costs are now expected to be incurred in 22-23. 

 
 

Page 49



13 Capital Budget Changes  
 

 

Cabinet is asked to note the following changes to the Capital Budget: 

 

Project Year Amount (£m) Reason 

Government Transition Works 
(GET) 

21-22 16.466 Additional DfT grant to fund works at Sevington. 

Dover Inter Border Facility (GET) 21-22 1.127 
3.485 

Additional revenue contribution to the scheme. 
Additional grant funding for the scheme. 

Tunbridge Wells Junction 
Improvements A26 (GET) 

21-22 -0.166 Reduction of developer contributions as the scheme 
has come to an end. 

 
 
Cabinet is asked to approve the following changes: 
 

Project Year Amount (£m) Reason 

Annual Planned Enhancement 
Programme (CYPE) 

21-22 
 
 

-0.250 
 
 

Transfer of high needs grant to the High Needs budget 
line. 

High Needs Provision 21-22 +0.250 Transfer of grant from the Annual Planned 
Enhancement Programme. 

 

Page 50



14 Treasury Management Monitoring  
 

 

Treasury management relates to the management of the Council’s debt portfolio (accumulated borrowing to fund 
previous and current capital infrastructure investments) and investments of cash balances. The Council has a 
comparatively high level of very long-term debt, a significant proportion of which was undertaken through the 
previous supported borrowing regime. The Council’s policy now is to minimise borrowing as far as possible given 
the impact on revenue. 

14.1 Total external debt outstanding 
in December was £828.52m   
down by £25.21m since 31st 
March 2021 
 

KCC debt includes £428.28m of borrowing from the Public Works Loans 
Board (PWLB). The vast majority is maturity debt (debt is only repaid upon 
maturity) at a fixed rate of interest. The average length to maturity of 
PWLB debt is 15.93 years at an average interest rate of 4.69%. 
 
Outstanding loans from banks amount to £291.8m. This is also at fixed 
term rates with average length to maturity of 36.76 years at an average 
interest rate of 4.4%. 
 
The council has £90m of Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) loans. 
These loans can only be renegotiated should the lender propose an 
increase in interest rates. The average length to maturity of LOBO loans is 
42.13 years at an average interest rate of 4.15%. 
 
The balance of debt relates to loans from Salix Finance for LED 
streetlighting programme. The outstanding balance is £18.45m with 
average of 10.7 years to maturity at an average rate of 1.51%. 
 
KCC’s principal objective for borrowing is to achieve an appropriately low 
risk balance between securing low interest rates and certainty of financing 
costs. This is achieved by seeking to fund capital spending from internal 
resources and short-term borrowing, only considering external long-term 
borrowing at advantageous interest rates. The Council’s policy is now to 
minimise borrowing as far as possible given the impact on revenue. 

14.2 Majority is long term debt with 
12.76% due to mature within 5 
years 

Maturity 0 to 5 years £105.74m (12.76%) 
Maturity 5 to 10 years is minimal 
Maturity 10 to 20 years £215.17m (25.97%) 
Maturity over 20 years £507.6m (61.27%) 

14.3 Total cash balance at end of 
December was £507m, up by 
£4m from the end of November 
but down by £90m from the end 
of September 

Cash balances accrue from the council’s reserves and timing differences 
between the receipt of grants and other income and expenditure. Balances 
are forecast to decline throughout the remainder of the year to £479m 
(£18m less than the same balance as at 31st March 2021) 

  

Page 51



14 Treasury Management Monitoring  
 

 

14.4 Cash balances are invested in a 
range of short-term, medium 
term and long term deposits 

Investments are made in accordance with the Treasury Management 
Strategy agreed by full Council alongside the revenue and capital 
budgets. The treasury strategy represents a prudent approach to 
achieve an appropriate balance between risk, liquidity and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses on the sum invested. Longer term 
investments aim to achieve a rate of return equal or exceeding 
prevailing inflation rates. 
 
Short term deposits (same day availability) are held in bank accounts 
and money market funds.  Current balances in short-term deposits in 
December were £124.9m (24.5% of cash balances). Short-term deposits 
enable the Council to manage liquidity. Bank accounts and money 
market funds are currently earning an average rate of return of 0.07%. 
 
Deposits are made through the Debt Management Office (an executive 
agency responsible for debt and cash management for the UK 
Government, lending to local authorities and managing certain public 
sector funds). As at December the Council had £69m in DMO deposits 
and a further £7m in government bonds. In total these deposits 
represent 14.9% of cash investments with an average rate of return of 
0.06%. 
 
Loans to other local authorities now total £11m achieving an average 
rate of return of 0.04%. Since the end of March 2021 £40m of loans 
have been allowed to mature and not renewed. Each request to 
borrow or to renew an existing loan is assessed in terms of our own 
cashflow requirements and within our effective lending policies and 
procedures. 
 
Medium term deposits include covered bonds, a form of secured bond 
issued by a financial institution that is backed by mortgages or public 
sector loans. In the UK the covered bond programmes are supervised 
by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). King and Shaxson acts as the 
Council’s broker and custodian for its bond portfolio. Currently the 
Council has £96m invested in covered bonds earning an average rate of 
return of 0.45%. 
 
The Council has lent £13.2m through the No Use Empty Loans 
programme which achieve a return of 1.5% that is available to fund 
general services. This total includes £7.6m of loans made since March.  
 
Long term investments are made through Strategic Pooled Funds. 
These include a variety of UK and Global Equity Funds, Multi Asset 
Funds and Property Funds. In total the Council has £187.2m invested in 
pooled funds (36.7% of cash balances). These funds have earned a total 
of £34.6m since investment at an average annual rate of 4.14%. 
Returns on pooled funds can be volatile.   

  

Page 52



14 Treasury Management Monitoring  
 

 

14.5 Treasury Management Advice The Council secures external specialist treasury management advice 
from Arlingclose. They advise on the overall strategy as well as 
borrowing options and investment opportunities. Arlingclose provide 
regular performance monitoring reports. 

14.6 Quarterly and Bi-annual reports A fuller report is presented to Governance and Audit Committee on a 
regular quarterly basis. A report on treasury performance is reported 
twice a year to full Council. 

 
 

 

Page 53



Appendix 1 - Key Service Summary as at December 2021-22

Revenue 

Budget

£m

Variance 

excl. Covid-

19

£m

Covid-19 

Forecast

£m

Variance incl. 

Covid-19

£m

Community Based Preventative Services 17.2 (0.7) 1.6 0.9 

Housing Related Support 6.9 0.1 0.0 0.1 

Statutory and Policy Support 1.2 0.2 0.0 0.2 

Strategic Management & Directorate Support (ASCH) 4.5 (1.8) 1.0 (0.8)

Social Support for Carers 3.1 0.4 0.0 0.4 

Partnership Support Services 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Strategic Safeguarding 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 33.4 (1.8) 2.6 0.7 

Public Health - Advice and Other Staffing 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Public Health - Children's Programme 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Public Health - Healthy Lifestyles 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Public Health - Mental Health, Substance Misuse & Community Safety 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Public Health - Sexual Health 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Public Health 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Adult In House Carer Services 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

Adult In House Community Services 6.9 (0.9) 0.0 (0.9)

Adult In House Enablement Services 7.1 (1.0) 0.0 (1.0)

Adult Learning Disability - Case Management & Assessment Service 5.1 (0.4) 0.2 (0.3)

Adult Learning Disability - Community Based Services & Support for Carers 92.5 1.7 0.0 1.7 

Adult Learning Disability - Residential Care Services & Support for Carers 65.8 3.9 0.0 3.9 

Adult Mental Health - Case Management & Assessment Services 8.7 0.2 0.0 0.2 

Adult Mental Health - Community Based Services 8.5 2.6 2.7 5.4 

Adult Mental Health - Residential Care Services 16.9 (1.5) 0.0 (1.5)

Adult Physical Disability - Community Based Services 18.5 2.5 0.2 2.7 

Adult Physical Disability - Residential Care Services 17.3 0.3 0.1 0.4 

ASCH Operations - Divisional Management & Support 6.7 (0.0) 0.3 0.3 

Older People - Community Based Services 46.3 (7.2) 0.9 (6.2)

Older People - In House Provision 15.2 (0.8) (0.0) (0.8)

Older People - Residential Care Services 34.5 19.0 3.5 22.5 

Older People & Physical Disability - Assessment and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Services
22.3 (0.3) 0.3 0.0 

Older People & Physical Disability - In House Community Homecare Service 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Older People & Physical Disability Carer Support - Commissioned 0.8 0.3 0.0 0.3 

Physical Disability 26+ Lifespan Pathway & Sensory and Autism 18+ - Community Based 

Services
7.2 (1.8) 0.0 (1.8)

Physical Disability 26+ Lifespan Pathway & Sensory and Autism 18+ - Residential Care Services
1.4 (0.4) 0.0 (0.4)

Sensory & Autism - Assessment Service 1.8 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

Service Provision - Divisional Management & Support 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Adaptive & Assistive Technology 2.1 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

Adult Social Care & Health Operations 388.3 16.1 8.2 24.3 

Business Delivery 8.8 (0.3) 0.1 (0.2)

Safeguarding Adults 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Independent Living Support 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Business Delivery Unit 9.5 (0.3) 0.1 (0.2)

Adult Social Care & Health 431.1 14.0 10.9 24.8 

Page 54



Revenue 

Budget

£m

Variance 

excl. Covid-

19

£m

Covid-19 

Forecast

£m

Variance incl. 

Covid-19

£m

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 4.0 (0.7) (0.1) (0.8)

Community Learning & Skills (CLS) (0.6) 0.0 0.7 0.7 

Early Years Education 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Education Management & Division Support 1.4 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

Education Services provided by The Education People 4.7 0.1 0.0 0.1 

Fair Access & Planning Services 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.1 

Home to School & College Transport 44.5 5.1 0.4 5.5 

Other School Services 6.0 (0.5) 6.9 6.3 

Education 56.2 4.7 8.0 12.7 

Adoption & Special Guardianship Arrangements & Service 15.2 0.2 0.0 0.2 

Asylum (0.1) 0.1 0.0 0.1 

Care Leavers Service 7.7 (2.4) 0.0 (2.4)

Children in Need - Care & Support 3.3 (0.1) 0.2 0.1 

Children's Centres 3.6 0.0 (1.2) (1.2)

Children's Social Work Services - Assessment & Safeguarding Service 47.7 0.8 2.0 2.8 

Early Help & Preventative Services 8.0 0.2 (0.3) (0.1)

Integrated Services (Children's) Management & Directorate Support 5.6 (0.3) 0.0 (0.3)

Looked After Children - Care & Support 63.5 1.7 2.0 3.7 

Pupil Referral Units & Inclusion (0.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Youth Services 4.8 0.0 (0.5) (0.5)

Integrated Children's Services (East & West) 159.3 0.1 2.2 2.3 

Adult Learning & Physical Disability Pathway - Community Based Services 30.2 0.0 0.3 0.3 

Adult Learning & Physical Disability Pathway - Residential Care Services & Support for Carers 9.1 0.7 0.0 0.7 

Children in Need (Disability) - Care & Support 5.1 0.3 0.0 0.3 

Childrens Disability 0-18 Commissioning 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Disabled Children & Young People Service (0-25 LD & Complex PD) - Assessment Service 8.1 0.4 0.1 0.5 

Looked After Children (with Disability) - Care & Support 13.2 0.8 0.8 1.6 

Looked After Children (with Disability) - In House Provision 3.5 0.2 0.0 0.2 

Special Educational Needs & Disability Management & Divisional Support 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Special Educational Needs & Psychology Services 11.6 0.6 1.3 2.0 

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 82.7 3.0 2.7 5.6 

Children, Young People & Education 302.3 7.1 12.7 19.8 

Page 55



Revenue 

Budget

£m

Variance 

excl. Covid-

19

£m

Covid-19 

Forecast

£m

Variance incl. 

Covid-19

£m

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 1.4 (0.2) 0.0 (0.2)

Arts 1.4 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

Economic Development 3.1 0.1 0.9 1.0 

Economic Development 4.4 0.0 0.9 0.9 

Highway Transportation (including School Crossing Patrols) 6.3 (0.2) 0.0 (0.2)

Highway Asset Management (Roads and Footways) 13.4 1.4 0.0 1.4 

Highway Asset Management (Other) 18.9 (1.0) 0.0 (1.0)

Subsidised Buses and Community Transport 6.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Concessionary Fares 17.2 0.0 (1.3) (1.3)

Kent Travel Saver 7.6 (0.3) (0.9) (1.2)

Residual Waste 40.0 0.2 2.7 2.8 

Waste Facilities & Recycling Centres 34.0 (2.1) 1.0 (1.0)

Highways, Transport & Waste Management Costs and Commercial Operations 6.6 (1.2) 0.0 (1.2)

Highways, Transportation & Waste 150.5 (3.2) 1.5 (1.7)

Environment & Planning 6.1 (0.3) 0.1 (0.2)

Environment, Planning & Enforcement Management Costs 0.7 0.0 0.4 0.4 

Public Protection (Enforcement) 10.6 (0.7) 0.3 (0.4)

Environment, Planning & Enforcement 17.5 (1.0) 0.8 (0.2)

Libraries, Registration & Archives 8.6 (0.2) 0.3 0.1 

Growth, Environment & Transport 182.4 (4.6) 3.5 (1.2)

Page 56



Revenue 

Budget

£m

Variance 

excl. Covid-

19

£m

Covid-19 

Forecast

£m

Variance incl. 

Covid-19

£m

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets (1.7) (0.4) 0.0 (0.4)

Customer Contact, Communications & Consultations 5.7 0.1 0.1 0.2 

Human Resources related services 8.0 (0.2) 0.0 (0.2)

People & Communication 13.7 (0.1) 0.1 0.0

Finance 12.3 0.1 6.0 6.1 

Governance & Law 6.1 0.2 0.1 0.3 

Local Member Grants 0.8 0.0 0.5 0.5 

Governance, Law & Democracy 6.9 0.2 0.6 0.7 

ICT related services 22.4 (0.2) 0.9 0.7 

Property related services 5.8 (0.5) 1.1 0.6 

Infrastructure 28.2 (0.7) 2.0 1.3 

Corporate Landlord 25.3 (0.4) 0.4 0.0

Strategic Commissioning 7.3 (0.5) 0.0 (0.5)

Strategy, Policy, Relationships & Corporate Assurance 3.8 (0.2) 0.3 0.1 

Total - Strategic & Corporate Services 95.8 (2.1) 9.4 7.3 

Non Attributable Costs 115.8 0.0 0.3 0.3 
Corporately Held Budgets (to be allocated) 0.5 (0.5) 0.0 (0.5)

Total excluding Schools' Delegated Budgets 1,128.0 13.9 36.8 50.6 

Page 57



The prudential indicators consider the affordability and impact of capital expenditure plans, in line

with the prudential code.

Prudential Indicator 1 : Estimates of Capital Expenditure (£m)

20-21

Actuals

21-22

Budget  

21-22

Forecast

Total 340.63 424.2 340.30

Prudential Indicator 2: Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) (£m)

The CFR is the total outstanding capital expenditure not yet financed by revenue or capital resources.

It is a measure of the Council's underlying borrowing need.

20-21

Actuals

21-22

Budget

21-22

Forecast

Total CFR 1,269.16 1,402.50 1,301.19

Prudential Indicator 3: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement (£m)

Projected levels of the Authority's total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing, PFI liabilities, leases

and transferred debt) are shown below, compared with the CFR.

20-21

Actuals

21-22

Budget

21-22

Forecast

Other Long-term Liabilities 235.80 245.20 245.20

External Borrowing 853.73 826.00 828.52

Total Debt 1,089.53 1,071.20 1,073.72

Capital Financing Requirement 1,269.16 1,402.50 1,301.19

Internal Borrowing 179.63 331.30 227.47

Prudential Indicator 4 : Authorised Limit and Operation Boundary for External Debt (£m)

The Authority is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (the authorised limit for external debt).

A lower "operation boundary" is set should debt approach the limit.

20-21

Actuals  

21-22

Limit       

21-22

Forecast

Authorised Limit - borrowing 854 1,016 850

Authorised Limit - PFI and leases 246 245 245

Authorised Limit - total external debt 1,100 1,261 1,095

Operational Boundary - borrowing 854 991 850

Operational Boundary - PFI and leases 246 245 245

Operation Boundary - total external debt 1,100 1,236 1,095

Appendix 2 - Monitoring of Prudential Indicators as at 31 December 2021

Page 58



Prudential Indicator 5: Proportion of Finance Costs to Net Revenue Stream (%)

Financing costs comprise interest on loans and minimum revenue provision (MRP) and are charged to revenue.  

This indicator compares the net financing costs of the Authoity to the net revenue stream.

20-21

Actual

21-22

Budget

21-22

Forecast

Proportion of net revenue stream 9.57% 9.59% 9.20%

Page 59



Appendix 3 - Reserves Monitoring as at 31 December 2021 

Balance as 
at 1 April 

2021 

Forecast 
Contribution 

to/(from) 
Reserve 

Projected 
Balance at 
31 March 

2022 

£m £m £m 

General Fund (GF) Balance 42.5 42.5 

Budgeted contribution to/(from) in MTFP 14.0 14.0 

42.5 14.0 56.5 

Earmarked reserves: 

Vehicle, Plant & Equipment (VPE) 16.2 0.0 16.2 

Smoothing 121.8 (10.7) 111.1 

Major Projects 54.7 0.8 55.5 

Partnerships 26.9 (0.5) 26.4 

Grant/External Funds* 90.8 (49.8) 41.0 

Departmental Under/Overspends** 13.7 (15.6) (1.9) 

Insurance 13.8 0.8 14.6 

Public Health 11.1 1.9 13.0 

Trading 0.7 0.0 0.7 

Special Funds 0.6 0.0 0.6 

Total Earmarked Reserves 350.3 (73.1) 277.2 

Total GF and Earmarked Reserves 392.8 (59.1) 333.7 

Schools Reserves 

Balance as 
at 1 April 

2021 

Forecast 
Contribution 

to/(from) 
Reserve 

Projected 
Balance at 
31 March 

2022 

£m £m £m 

School delegated revenue budget reserve - 
committed 

21.9 0.0 21.9 

School delegated revenue budget reserve - 
uncommitted 

33.9 0.1 34.0 

Community Focussed Extended Schools 
Reserves 

0.1 0.0 0.1 

Total School Reserves 55.9 0.1 56.0 

Page 60



DSG Adjustment Account - Unusable Reserve 

Balance as 
at 1 April 

2021 

Forecast 
Contribution 

to/(from) 
Reserve 

Projected 
Balance at 
31 March 

2022 

£m £m £m 

Unallocated Schools Budget (51.0) (54.1) (105.1) 

The General fund Reserve has been increased as agreed by County Council in the 2021-22 

MTFP. 

The earmarked reserves are decreasing mainly due to the following: 

• Grant/External Funds*

£m £m 

Balance as at 1 April 2021 90.8 

S31 Compensation grants (28.0) 

ASCH additional COVID-19 spend (3.9) 

CYPE additional COVID-19 spend (7.4) 

GET additional COVID-19 spend (3.1) 

S&CS additional COVID-19 spend (8.0) 

NAC reduction in COVID-19 spend 1.8 

COVID-19 Emergency Grant: (20.6) 

ASCH - Community Discharge Grant (0.6) 

GET - Bus Services Operators Grant (0.4) 

GET - Supported Bus Grant (0.2) 

Balance as at 31 March 2022 41.0 

• Anticipated but not agreed funding of the business as usual forecast outturn 
overspend**

• Each of the Directorates have referenced net drawdowns from reserves. ASCH

£1.2m, CYPE £1.3m, GET £1.2m, SCS £4.0m and NAC £11.1m contribution to 
reserves. These are mainly funded from the Strategic Reset and ICT reserves which 
are held within Major Projects.

• The majority of the drawdown of the smoothing reserves is the one off funding that 
was agreed to support the 2021-22 budget.

The DSG Adjustment Account deficit has increased due to pressures in Schools Funding. More 

details can be found in Section 10. 

Page 61



The net £59.1m drawdown reflected in the table above covers more than the reserve 

drawdowns set out in the Directorate sections of this report, as this includes funding 

elements, which are roll forwards and the S31 Compensation grants. 

Page 62


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 27 January 2022
	Minutes

	5 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report - December 2021-22
	Appendix
	0. Cover
	Contents
	Contact Details

	1. Introduction - 21.02.22
	2. Recommendations - 18.02.22
	3.  Revenue - 21.02.22
	4. Covid-19 - 21.02.22
	5. ASCH - 18.02.22
	Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here:

	6. CYPE - 21.02.22
	Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here:

	7. GET - 21.02.22
	8. SCS - 18.2.22
	Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here:

	9. NAC - 22.02.22
	Details of the Covid-19 forecast are shown here:

	10. Schools - 22.02.22
	11. Savings - 22.02.22
	12. Capital - 21.02.22
	13. Capital Budget Changes
	14. Treasury Management Monitoring - 18.02.22
	Appendix 1 - Key Service Summary
	Appendix 2 - Prudential Indicators
	Appendix 3 - Reserves Monitoring



